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Item 1. BUSINESS 

General 
Company Background 

Barrett Business Services, Inc. (“BBSI,” the “Company,” “our” or “we”), is a leading provider of business 
management solutions for small and mid-sized companies. The Company has developed a management 
platform that integrates a knowledge-based approach from the management consulting industry with tools 
from the human resource outsourcing industry. This platform, through the effective leveraging of human 
capital, helps our business owner clients run their businesses more effectively. We believe this platform, 
delivered through a decentralized organizational structure, differentiates BBSI from our competitors. BBSI 
was incorporated in Maryland in 1965. 

Certain statements below contain forward-looking information that is subject to risks and uncertainties. 
See “Forward-Looking Information” in Item 7 of Part II of this report and “Risk Factors” in Item 1A of Part I 
of this report. 

Common Stock Split 

On June 4, 2024, we amended our Charter to increase the number of authorized shares of common stock 
from 20,500,000 shares to 82,000,000 shares, and our Board of Directors declared a four-for-one split of 
the Company’s common stock effected in the form of a stock dividend (the “2024 Stock Split”). Each 
stockholder of record at the close of business on June 14, 2024 received a dividend of three additional 
shares of common stock for each then-held share, distributed after close of trading on June 21, 2024. All 
share and per share amounts presented herein have been retroactively adjusted to reflect the impact of 
the 2024 Stock Split. The shares of common stock retain a par value of $0.01 per share. Accordingly, an 
amount equal to the par value of the increased shares resulting from the stock split was reclassified from 
additional paid-in capital to common stock. 

Business Strategy 

Our strategy is to align local operations teams with the mission of small and mid-sized business owners, 
driving value to their business. To do so, BBSI: 

 partners with business owners to leverage their investment in human capital through a high-
touch, results-oriented approach; 

 brings predictability to each client organization through a three-tiered management platform; 
and 

 enables business owners to focus on their core business by reducing organizational 
complexity and maximizing productivity. 

Business Organization 

We operate a decentralized delivery model using operationally-focused business teams, typically located 
within 50 miles of our client companies. These teams are led by experienced business generalists and 
include senior level professionals with expertise in human resources, organizational development, risk 
mitigation and workplace safety, recruiting, employee benefits, and various types of administration, 
including payroll. These teams are responsible for growth and profitability of their operations, and for 
providing strategic leadership, guidance and expert consultation to our client companies. The 
decentralized structure fosters autonomous decision-making in which business teams deliver plans that 
closely align with the objectives of each business owner client. 

Services Overview 

BBSI’s core purpose is to advocate for business owners, particularly in the small and mid-sized business 
segment. Our evolution from an entrepreneurially run company to a professionally managed organization 
has helped to form our view that all businesses experience inflection points at key stages of growth. The 
insights gained through our own growth, along with the trends we see in working with more than 8,100 
companies each day, define our approach to guiding business owners through the challenges associated 
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with being an employer. BBSI’s business teams align with each business owner client through a 
structured three-tiered progression. In doing so, business teams focus on the objectives of each business 
owner and deliver planning, guidance and resources in support of those objectives. 

Tier 1: Tactical Alignment 
The first stage focuses on the mutual setting of expectations and is essential to a successful client 
relationship. It begins with a process of assessment and discovery in which the business owner’s 
business objectives, attitudes, and culture are aligned with BBSI’s processes, controls and culture. This 
stage includes an implementation process, which addresses the administrative components of 
employment. 

Tier 2: Dynamic Relationship 
The second stage of the relationship emphasizes organizational development as a means of achieving 
each client’s business objectives. There is a focus on process improvement, development of best 
practices, supervisor training and leadership development. 

Tier 3: Strategic Counsel 
With an emphasis on advocacy on behalf of the business owner, the third stage of the relationship is 
more strategic and forward-looking with a goal of cultivating an environment in which all efforts are 
directed by the mission and long-term objectives of the business owner. 

In addition to serving as a resource and guide, BBSI can provide workers’ compensation coverage as a 
means of meeting statutory requirements and protecting our clients from employment-related injury 
claims. Through our third-party administrators, we provide claims management services for our clients. 
We work to manage and reduce job injury claims, identify fraudulent claims and structure optimal work 
programs, including modified duty.  

In 2023, BBSI began offering additional employee benefit programs to our clients. The new benefit 
programs available to clients include medical, dental and vision plans, flexible spending accounts and 
health savings accounts, life insurance and voluntary accident coverage, critical illness and disability 
coverage, among others. These additional employee benefit programs are offered through fully insured 
arrangements with third-party carriers and are designed to provide strategic value to our clients through 
access to best-in-class plans and service.  

Categories of Services 
We report financial results in two categories of services: Professional Employer Services (“PEO”) and 
Staffing. See Item 7 of Part II of this Report for information regarding the percentages of total net 
revenues provided by our PEO and staffing services for each of the last three fiscal years, and our 
consolidated financial statements in Item 8 of Part II of this Report for information regarding revenues, net 
income and total assets in our single reportable segment.  

PEO 

We enter into a client services agreement to establish a co-employment relationship with each client 
company, assuming responsibility for payroll, payroll taxes, workers’ compensation (if elected) and 
benefits coverage (if elected) and certain other administrative functions for the client’s existing workforce. 
We provide our PEO clients access to human resource advisors, retirement plans, a learning 
management system and our web-based technology platform, myBBSI. 

We refer to employees of our PEO clients as worksite employees (“WSEs”). The client maintains physical 
care, custody and control of the WSEs, including the authority to hire and terminate employees. During 
2024, we supported in excess of 8,100 PEO clients with total average WSEs of 129,577.  
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Staffing and Recruiting 

Our staffing services include on-demand or short-term staffing assignments, contract staffing, direct 
placement (including for PEO and non-PEO clients), and long-term or indefinite-term on-site 
management. On-site management employees are BBSI management employees who are based on the 
client-site and whose jobs are to assist BBSI staffing employees. Our recruiting experts maintain a deep 
network of professionals from which we source candidates. Through an assessment process, we gain an 
understanding of the short and long-term needs of our clients, allowing us to identify and source the right 
talent for each position. We then conduct a rigorous screening process to help ensure a successful hire. 

Clients and Client Contracts 
Our PEO business is typically characterized by long-term relationships that result in recurring revenue. 
The terms and conditions applicable to our client relationships are set forth in a client services agreement, 
which typically provides for an initial term of one year with renewal for additional one-year periods, but 
generally permits cancellation by either party upon 30 days’ written notice. In addition, in most cases we 
may terminate the agreement at any time for certain breaches of contract, including nonpayment or failure 
to follow our workplace safety recommendations.  

The PEO client services agreement also provides for indemnification by the client against losses arising 
out of any default by the client under the agreement, including failure to comply with any employment-
related, health and safety, or immigration laws or regulations. Our client service agreement requires that 
clients enter a co-employment arrangement and maintain comprehensive liability coverage in the amount 
of $1.0 million for acts of their employees. It is nevertheless possible that claims not satisfied or covered 
through indemnification or insurance may be asserted against us, which could adversely affect our results 
of operations. 

We have PEO client services agreements with customers in a diverse array of industries, including, 
among others, construction, manufacturing, transportation and warehousing, waste management and 
remediation services, retail, leisure and hospitality and wholesale trade. None of our clients individually 
represented more than 1% of our total revenues in 2024. 

Market Opportunity 
As a PEO that aligns with the mission of business owners by providing resources and guidance to small 
and mid-size businesses, BBSI believes its growth is driven by the desire of business owners to focus on 
mission-critical functions, reduce complexity associated with the employment function, mitigate costs and 
maximize their investment in human capital. Our integrated management platform has enabled us to 
capitalize on these needs within the small to mid-size business sector. 

The small and mid-sized business segment is particularly attractive because: 

 it is large, continues to offer significant growth opportunity and remains underserved by 
professional services companies; 

 it typically has fewer in-house resources than larger businesses and, as a result, is generally 
more dependent on external resources; 

 we generally experience a relatively high client retention rate and lower client acquisition costs 
within this market segment; and 

 we have found that small to mid-sized businesses are responsive to quality of service when 
selecting a PEO or staffing services provider. 

Competition 
The business environment in which we operate is characterized by intense competition and 
fragmentation. BBSI is not aware of reliable statistics regarding the number of its competitors, but certain 
large, well-known companies typically compete with us in the same markets and have greater financial 
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and marketing resources than we do, including Automatic Data Processing, Inc., ManpowerGroup, Inc., 
Kelly Services, Inc., Insperity, Inc., TriNet Group, Inc., Robert Half International Inc. and Paychex, Inc. We 
face additional competition from regional providers and we may in the future also face competition from 
new entrants to the field, including other staffing services companies, payroll processing companies and 
insurance companies. The principal competitive factors in the business environment in which we operate 
are price and level of service. 

We believe that our growth is attributable to our ability to provide small and mid-sized companies with the 
resources and knowledge base of a large employer delivered through a local operations team. Our level 
of integration with each client business provides us an additional competitive advantage. 

Technology Platform 
Our client-facing technology platform, myBBSI, includes both internally developed and licensed software 
which gives our clients a wide range of tools, including the ability to process payroll, collect and process 
time and attendance information, manage human resource information including employee onboarding 
and termination, as well as compensation, benefits, and payroll tax reporting.   

Growth Strategy 
We believe our clients are one of our best advocates and powerful drivers of referral-based growth. In 
each market, operations teams provide expertise, consultation and support to our clients, driving growth 
and supporting retention. We anticipate that by adding business teams to existing branches, we can 
achieve incremental growth in those markets, driven by our reputation and by client referrals. In most 
markets, business development efforts are led by area managers and are further supported by business 
development managers. 

Our business growth has three primary sources: referrals from existing clients, direct business-to-
business sales efforts by our area managers and business development managers, and an extensive 
referral network. Partners in our referral network include insurance brokers, financial advisors, attorneys, 
CPAs, and other business professionals who can facilitate an introduction to prospective clients. These 
referral partners facilitate introductions to business owners on our behalf, typically in exchange for a fee 
equal to a small percentage of payroll. 

We see two key drivers to our growth: 

 Increase market share in existing markets. We seek to support, strengthen and expand branch 
office operations through the ongoing development of business teams. We believe that 
strengthening and expanding the operations of each location is an efficient and effective 
means of increasing market share in the geographic areas in which we do business, and that 
our business teams serve a dual purpose: 1) Delivering high-quality service to our clients, 
thereby supporting client business growth and retention, and driving client referrals, and 2) 
Incubating and acquiring talent at the branch level to support expansion into new markets. 

 Penetrate new markets. We intend to expand our geographic presence as opportunities arise. 
We continue to refine our approach to geographic expansion, which now includes an "asset-
light" entry to new markets until sufficient scale is reached to warrant a physical office location. 
As part of this effort to expand geographically, we have become licensed to provide PEO 
services nationwide. 

Workers’ Compensation 
Through our client services agreement, BBSI can provide workers’ compensation coverage to its clients. 
We provide this coverage through a variety of methods, all of which are subject to rigorous underwriting to 
assess financial stability, risk factors and cultural alignment related to safety and the client’s desire to 
improve their operations. In providing this coverage, we are responsible for complying with applicable 
statutory requirements for workers' compensation coverage. 
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Risk mitigation is also an important contributor to our principal goal of helping business owners operate 
their business more efficiently. It is in the mutual interests of the client and BBSI to commit to workplace 
safety and risk mitigation. We maintain clear guidelines for our area managers and risk management 
consultants, directly tying their continued employment to their diligence in understanding and addressing 
the risks of accident or injury associated with the industries in which client companies operate and in 
monitoring clients’ compliance with workplace safety requirements. 

Elements of Workers' Compensation System 

State law (and for certain types of employees, federal law) generally mandates that an employer 
reimburse its employees for the costs of medical care and other specified benefits for injuries or illnesses, 
including catastrophic injuries and fatalities, incurred in the course and scope of employment. Most states 
require employers to maintain workers' compensation insurance or otherwise demonstrate financial 
responsibility to meet workers' compensation obligations to employees. The benefits payable for various 
categories of claims are determined by state regulation and vary with the severity and nature of the injury 
or illness and other specified factors. In return for this guaranteed protection, workers' compensation is an 
exclusive remedy and employees are generally precluded from seeking other damages from their 
employer for workplace injuries. In many states, employers who meet certain financial and other 
requirements are permitted to self-insure. 

Insured Program 

The Company provides workers’ compensation coverage for client employees primarily through 
arrangements with fully licensed, third-party insurers (the “insured program”). Under this program, carriers 
issue policies or afford coverage to the Company’s clients under a program maintained by the Company. 
Approximately 85% of the Company’s workers’ compensation exposure is covered through the insured 
program. 

Effective July 1, 2021, the Company entered into a fully insured arrangement for its insured program, 
whereby third-party insurers assume substantially all risk of loss for claims incurred under the program. 
This fully insured arrangement has been extended annually and covers claims incurred between July 1, 
2021 and June 30, 2025, with an option to renew through June 30, 2026. 
Each annual fully insured policy allows BBSI to participate in savings if claims develop favorably up to a 
maximum per policy year ranging from $20.5 million to $28.5 million, depending on the policy period. For 
only the policy period from July 1, 2021 to June 30 2022, BBSI can also incur additional premium up to 
$7.5 million if claims develop adversely. No additional premium can be charged based on claim 
performance for other policy years. 
Premiums incurred but not paid are recorded as either current or long-term premium payable on the 
consolidated balance sheets based on the expected timing of the payments. 
For claims incurred under the insured program prior to July 1, 2021, the Company retains risk of loss up 
to the first $3.0 million per occurrence on policies issued after June 30, 2020 and $5.0 million per 
occurrence on policies issued before that date.  

Claim obligations for policies issued under the insured program between February 1, 2014 and June 30, 
2018 were removed through loss portfolio transfers in 2020 and 2021. 
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Self-Insured Programs  

The Company is a self-insured employer with respect to workers' compensation coverage for all 
employees, including employees of PEO clients that elect to participate in our workers’ compensation 
program, working in Colorado, Maryland, Ohio, and Oregon. In the state of Washington, state law allows 
only the Company's staffing services and internal management employees to be covered under the 
Company's self-insured workers' compensation program. The Company also operates a wholly owned, 
fully licensed insurance company, Ecole, which provides workers’ compensation coverage to client 
employees working in Arizona and Utah. Approximately 15% of the Company’s workers’ compensation 
exposure is covered through self-insurance or Ecole (the “self-insured programs”). 

For all claims incurred under the Company’s self-insured programs, the Company retains risk of loss up to 
the first $3.0 million per occurrence, except in Maryland and Colorado, where the Company’s retention 
per occurrence is $1.0 million and $2.0 million, respectively. For claims incurred under the Company’s 
self-insured programs prior to July 1, 2020, the Company retains risk of loss up to the first $5.0 million per 
occurrence, except in Maryland and Colorado, where the retention per occurrence is $1.0 million and $2.0 
million, respectively. 

Claims Management 

As a result of our status as a self-insured employer in four states and our remaining retention 
arrangements, our workers' compensation expense is tied directly to the incidence and severity of 
covered workplace injuries. We seek to contain our workers' compensation costs through a 
comprehensive approach to claims management. We use managed-care systems to reduce medical 
costs and keep time-loss costs to a minimum by assigning injured workers, whenever possible, to short-
term assignments which accommodate the workers' physical limitations. We believe that these 
assignments minimize both time actually lost from work and covered time-loss costs. We engage a third-
party claims administrator ("TPA") to provide the primary claims management expertise. Typical claims 
management procedures include performing thorough and prompt on-site investigations of claims filed by 
employees, working with physicians to encourage efficient medical management of cases, denying 
questionable claims and attempting to negotiate early settlements to eliminate future adverse 
development of claims costs. We also maintain a corporate-wide pre-employment drug screening 
program and a post-injury drug test program. We believe our claims management program has resulted in 
a reduction in the frequency of fraudulent claims and in accidents in which the use of illicit drugs appears 
to have been a contributing factor. 

Sponsored Benefits 
In 2023, BBSI began offering employee benefits to its PEO client employees. As a plan sponsor, BBSI 
engages with third-party insurance carriers to enter into fully insured arrangements to offer a wide range 
of employee benefit programs to our clients, including medical, dental and vision plans, flexible spending 
accounts and health savings accounts, life insurance and voluntary accident coverage, and critical illness 
and disability coverage, among others. 

As the sponsor and administrator of the PEO benefit programs, BBSI negotiates the terms of the benefit 
programs with third-party insurance carriers and benefit providers, pays insurance carrier premiums, and 
maintains the plans to comply with all applicable federal, state, and local laws and regulations. We also 
provide access to benefit consultants who design benefit plans that meet the specific needs of our clients, 
produce tailored benefit guides that assist our worksite employees in selecting benefit products that are 
right for them, and we provide a custom enrollment interface through myBBSI. We believe that the 
administration services and the wide array of benefit products that we offer as a plan sponsor would 
traditionally only be available to large organizations. By providing our small and medium-sized business 
clients with access to best-in-class benefits and administration services, we are providing strategic value 
that improves our clients' ability to attract and retain top talent for their organizations.  
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Human Capital  
At December 31, 2024, we had a total of 3,658 employees, including 870 managerial, sales and 
administrative employees (together, “management employees”), 4 executive officers and 2,784 staffing 
services employees. We are also the administrative employer for certain limited purposes such as 
processing payroll and remitting payroll taxes for 132,069 WSEs in our co-employment arrangements with 
our PEO clients. The number of employees and WSEs at any given time may vary significantly due to 
business conditions at BBSI and our client companies. We believe our employee relations with 
management employees are good. 

BBSI believes that making significant investments in the best management employee talent available 
allows us to leverage the value of this investment many times over. Additionally, we believe our 
Company’s success depends on our ability to attract, develop and retain our management employee and 
staffing workforce. As such, we strive to be an employer of choice and promote the health, welfare and 
safety of our employees. This involves promoting diversity and treating all employees with dignity and 
respect, while providing our management employees with fair, market-based, competitive and equitable 
compensation. Because of our continuous commitment to our employees, we have recently been 
recognized as a Great Place to Work Certified company for our fourth consecutive year. 

We motivate our management employees through a compensation package that includes a competitive 
base salary and the opportunity for profit sharing. At the branch level, profit sharing is in direct correlation 
to client WSE growth and workers’ compensation claims performance, reinforcing a culture focused on 
achievement of client goals. We also provide a comprehensive benefits package as well as an employee 
stock purchase plan to our employees. We seek feedback from employees regarding our benefits 
package through employee surveys. This information is used by management to make improvements as 
we continuously strive to be an employer of choice.  

We offer various qualified employee benefit plans to our employees and WSEs for whom we are the 
administrative employer in a co-employment arrangement with a PEO client that so elects. Our qualified 
staffing and management employee benefit plans include our 401(k) plan. Beginning in 2023, qualified 
employees may enroll upon reaching 21 years of age and completing six months of service. We match 
100% of contributions by management and staffing employees up to 3% of each participating employee's 
annual compensation and 50% of the employee's contributions up to an additional 2% of annual 
compensation. Matching contributions to the 401(k) plan for management and staffing employees are 
made under a safe harbor provision, which are immediately 100% vested. WSEs covered under a PEO 
arrangement may participate in our 401(k) plan at the sole discretion of the PEO client. 

We also offer a cafeteria plan under Section 125 of the Internal Revenue Code and group health, life 
insurance and disability insurance plans to qualified staffing and management employees. Generally, 
qualified employee benefit plans are subject to provisions of both the Internal Revenue Code and the 
Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 ("ERISA").  

Certain highly compensated employees of the Company are allowed to participate in a nonqualified 
deferred compensation plan. Under the plan, participants are permitted to defer receipt for income tax 
purposes of up to 90% of salary and up to 100% of any incentive bonus. Participants earn a return on 
their deferred compensation based on the investment performance of participant-selected investments. 
As an incentive to participate in the plan, the Company awards restricted stock units with a value equal to 
35% of the amount deferred under the plan, up to a maximum of $75,000 per year. The restricted stock 
units vest in full on the fifth anniversary of the grant date, contingent on the continued employment of the 
participant. 

The Company established a Rabbi trust under which compensation deferred by participants is deposited 
and held separately from the Company's other assets, subject to the claims of the Company's creditors in 
the event of its bankruptcy or insolvency. 

The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act and the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 
2010 (collectively, the “Acts”) subject us to potential penalties unless we offer to our employees minimum 
essential healthcare coverage that is affordable. Because each PEO client is considered to be the sole 
employer in the application of any rule or law included within the scope of the Acts, we are not required to 
offer health care coverage to the WSEs of our PEO clients. However, in 2023 we began offering 
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sponsored benefits, including healthcare coverage, to eligible PEO client employees as part of our PEO 
service offering. To comply with the employer mandate provision of the Acts for our staffing and 
management employees, we offer health care coverage to all staffing and management employees 
eligible for coverage under the Acts.  

Regulatory and Legislative Environment 
We are subject to the laws and regulations of the jurisdictions within which we operate, including those 
governing self-insured employers under the workers' compensation systems in Oregon, Maryland, Ohio, 
and Colorado, as well as in Washington for staffing and management employees. We are also subject to 
laws and regulations governing our two wholly owned insurance companies in Arizona. While the specific 
PEO laws and regulations vary among these jurisdictions, they typically require some form of licensing or 
registration and often have statutory requirements for workplace safety and notice of change in obligation 
of workers’ compensation coverage in the event of contract termination. Although compliance with these 
requirements imposes some additional financial risk, particularly with respect to those clients who breach 
their payment obligation to us, such compliance has not had a material adverse effect on our business to 
date. 

Our operations are affected by numerous federal and state laws relating to labor, tax and employment 
matters. Through our client services agreement, we assume certain obligations and responsibilities as the 
administrative employer under federal and state laws. Since many of these federal and state laws were 
enacted prior to the development of nontraditional employment relationships, such as professional 
employer, temporary employment, and outsourcing arrangements, many of these laws do not specifically 
address the obligations and responsibilities of nontraditional employers. In addition, the definition of 
"employer" under these laws is not uniform. 

As an employer, we are subject to all federal statutes and regulations governing our employer-employee 
relationships for staffing and management employees. Subject to the discussion of risk factors below, we 
believe that our operations comply in all material respects with applicable federal statutes and 
regulations. 

Due to the nature of our operations, we collect, store, process, use and retain significant amounts of 
confidential and sensitive personal employee and client information. As such, we are subject to a variety 
of federal and state laws and regulations associated with data privacy and security. For further discussion 
on the federal and state laws and regulations associated with data privacy and security, including 
protected health information ("PHI") and the related federal and state regulations such as HIPAA and the 
HITECH act, refer to “Risk Factors” in Item 1A of Part I of this report.  

Additional Information 
Our filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"), including our annual report on Form 
10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, proxy statements, and registration 
statements, as well as any amendments to these filings, are accessible free of charge at our website at 
http://www.bbsi.com as soon as reasonably practicable after they are electronically filed with the SEC. By 
making this reference to our website, we do not intend to incorporate into this report any information 
posted on our website. The website should not be considered part of this report.  

The SEC also maintains a website at http://www.sec.gov that provides access to reports, proxy and 
information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC, 
including the Company. 

Item 1A. RISK FACTORS 
In addition to other information contained in this report, the following risk factors should be considered 
carefully in evaluating our business. 
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Risks Relating to Workers’ Compensation  
Our ability to continue our business operations under our present service model is dependent on 
maintaining workers' compensation insurance coverage. 
Our arrangement with fully licensed, third-party insurers under the insured program provides workers’ 
compensation coverage to BBSI’s PEO clients through June 30, 2025, with the possibility of additional 
annual renewals. If our fully licensed third-party insurers are unwilling or unable to renew our 
arrangement in the future, we would need to seek coverage from a small number of alternative insurers. If 
replacement coverage were unavailable or available only on significantly less favorable terms, our 
business and results of operations would be materially adversely affected. 

We continue to have retention for certain workers' compensation claims incurred prior to July 1, 
2021 in the majority of states in which we operate. 
For claims incurred under the insured program prior to July 1, 2021, the Company retains risk of loss up 
to the first $3.0 million per occurrence on policies issued after June 30, 2020, and $5.0 million per 
occurrence on policies issued before that date.  

For all claims incurred under the Company’s self-insured programs, the Company retains risk of loss up to 
the first $3.0 million per occurrence, except in Maryland and Colorado, where the Company’s retention 
per occurrence is $1.0 million and $2.0 million, respectively. For claims incurred under the Company’s 
self-insured programs prior to July 1, 2020, the Company retains risk of loss up to the first $5.0 million per 
occurrence, except in Maryland and Colorado, where the retention per occurrence is $1.0 million and $2.0 
million, respectively. 

On June 29, 2020, the Company entered into a loss portfolio transfer agreement (“LPT 1”) to remove all 
outstanding workers’ compensation claims obligations for claims incurred under its insured program 
between February 1, 2014 and December 31, 2017. On June 30, 2021, the Company entered into a loss 
portfolio transfer agreement (“LPT 2”) to remove all remaining outstanding workers’ compensation claims 
obligations for client policies issued under its insured program up to June 30, 2018. 

Thus, for claims incurred before July 1, 2020, the Company has financial risk for most workers’ 
compensation claims under $5.0 million on a per occurrence basis, except for claims transferred under 
the insured program as part of LPT 1 and LPT 2. For claims incurred between July 1, 2020 and June 30, 
2021, the Company has financial risk for most workers' compensation claims under $3.0 million on a per 
occurrence basis. This level of per occurrence retention may result in higher workers’ compensation costs 
to us with a corresponding negative effect on our operating results and financial condition. 

Collateral requirements could increase beyond our ability to satisfy those requirements. 
The Company is required to provide collateral for its insured program and by certain states related to its 
current and former status as a self-insured employer. Various factors, including adverse loss experience 
or a decline in the fair value of investments in our collateral accounts, could cause the counterparties to 
require that additional collateral be posted. To partially satisfy these collateral requirements, the Company 
has provided surety bonds and standby letters of credit. If there are significant changes to the market for 
these credit products, or if we are unable to renew these agreements, we may incur increased costs or be 
required to deposit additional capital as collateral.  

Failure to manage the severity and frequency of workplace injuries will increase our workers’ 
compensation expenses. 
Significant increases in the relative frequency or severity of workplace injuries due to failures to 
accurately assess potential risks or assure implementation of effective safety measures by our clients 
may result in increased workers’ compensation claims expenses, with a corresponding negative effect on 
our results of operations and financial condition. 
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Risks Related to Technology 
To succeed, we must constantly improve our technology to meet the expectations of our clients. If 
we fail to meet those expectations, we may lose clients and harm our business. 
To attract and retain clients and satisfy their expectations, the software, hardware and networking 
technologies we use must be frequently and rapidly upgraded, enhanced and improved in response to 
technological advances, competitive pressures, client expectations, and new and changing laws. Failure 
to successfully implement technological improvements could result in harm to our reputation, loss of 
market share, reduced revenue, or client claims against us, any of which could materially harm our 
business. 

As we continue to invest in upgrades or replacements to our existing systems, including enhancements 
and additional security measures, we may incur substantial costs and risks relating to development, 
installation and implementation, including disruptions in our service offerings or increases in expected 
costs, which may have a material adverse effect on our operating results and financial condition. 

We are dependent upon technology services, and if we experience damage, service interruptions 
or failures in our computer and telecommunications systems, our client relationships and our 
ability to attract new clients may be adversely affected. 
We rely extensively on computer systems, including systems of third-party vendors, to provide service 
offerings to our clients, manage our branch network, perform employment-related services and 
accounting and reporting functions, and summarize and analyze our financial results. These systems are 
subject to damage or interruption from telecommunications failures, power-related outages, third-party 
disruptions, computer viruses and malicious attacks, security breaches and catastrophic events. If these 
systems are damaged or fail to function properly, we may incur substantial costs to repair or replace 
them, experience loss of critical data and interruptions or delays in our ability to manage our operations 
and encounter a loss of client confidence. In addition, our clients’ businesses may be adversely affected 
by any system or equipment failure or breach we experience. As a result, we may suffer damage to our 
reputation, we may lose clients, our ability to attract new clients may be adversely affected, and we could 
be exposed to contractual liability.  

We depend on third-party software to provide our services and support our operations. 
Significant portions of our services and operations rely on software that is licensed from third-party 
vendors. The fees associated with these license agreements could increase in future periods, resulting in 
increased operating expenses. If there are significant changes to the terms and conditions of our license 
agreements, if we are unable to renew these license agreements, if the software is not up to date with 
current legal requirements such that we become non-compliant, if the software is not updated to meet our 
needs as our business evolves, or if the software becomes unavailable for any other reason, we may be 
required to make changes to our vendors or information technology systems. These changes may impact 
the services we provide to our clients or the processes we have in place to support our operations, which 
could have an adverse effect on our business.  
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We could be subject to reduced revenues, increased costs, liability claims, or harm to our 
reputation as a result of data theft, cyberattacks or other security vulnerabilities. 
The nature of our business involves the receipt, storage, and transmission of personal and proprietary 
information about thousands of employees and clients. Attacks on information technology systems 
continue to grow in frequency and sophistication, and we and our third-party vendors are targeted by 
unauthorized parties using malicious tactics, code, and viruses. Hardware or applications we develop or 
procure from third-party vendors may contain defects in design or other problems that could unexpectedly 
compromise the confidentiality, integrity or availability of data or our systems. Because the techniques 
used to obtain unauthorized access and disable or sabotage systems change frequently and may be 
difficult to detect for long periods of time, we and our third-party vendors may be unable to anticipate 
these techniques or implement adequate preventive measures. Additionally, as our employees may work 
from home more frequently and access the Company's systems remotely, the Company may be exposed 
to heightened security risks, including the risk of cyber-attacks.  

The methods and techniques used by cyber threat actors to gain entry into our network and access our 
computer systems, software and data will become more advanced with the use of artificial intelligence 
("AI") and may become increasingly difficult or impossible to detect and prevent. As these threats 
continue to evolve, we may be required to invest significant additional resources to modify and enhance 
our information security and controls or to investigate and remediate any security vulnerabilities. While 
our technology infrastructure is designed to safeguard and protect personal and business information, we 
have limited ability to monitor the implementation of similar safeguards by our vendors. 

Any cyberattack, unauthorized intrusion, malicious software infiltration, network disruption, corruption of 
data, misuse or theft of private or other sensitive information, or inadvertent acts by our own employees, 
could result in the disclosure or misuse of confidential or proprietary information, which could have a 
material adverse effect on our business operations or that of our clients. If we experience a significant 
data security breach, fail to detect and appropriately respond to a significant data security breach, or fail 
to comply with the various state cybersecurity regulations including the California Consumer Privacy Act 
("CCPA") and the California Privacy Rights Act ("CPRA"), we could be exposed to government 
enforcement actions and private litigation. These losses may exceed our insurance coverage for such 
incidents. In addition, our employees and clients could lose confidence in our ability to protect their 
personal and proprietary information, which could cause them to terminate their relationships with us. Any 
loss of confidence arising from a significant data security breach could hurt our reputation, further 
damaging our business. 

Our business may be materially affected – either positively or negatively – by the emergence of 
disruptive new technologies or approaches enabled by the rapid pace of innovation unfolding in 
the artificial intelligence space.  
The safe and responsible integration of AI functionality as it rapidly evolves presents emerging ethical and 
legal challenges, and the use of such technologies may result in diminished brand trust and reputational 
harm. As with many innovations, AI presents risks and challenges that could significantly disrupt our 
business model. In addition, the use of AI by bad actors presents increasingly complex and sophisticated 
security threats to our confidential customer, employee, and Company data, and we must make additional 
efforts to maintain network security. The regulatory landscape surrounding AI technologies is evolving, 
and the ways in which these technologies will be regulated by governmental authorities, self-regulatory 
institutions, or other regulatory authorities remains uncertain and may be inconsistent from jurisdiction to 
jurisdiction. Certain jurisdictions in which we operate are considering or have proposed or enacted 
legislation and policies regulating AI and non-personal data, such as the recent Executive Order on AI. 
Such regulations may result in operational costs to modify, maintain, or align our business practices, or 
constrain our ability to develop, deploy, or maintain these technologies.  
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Other Risks Related to our Business and Industry 
New service offerings may subject us to additional risks. 
Future new service offerings may introduce additional risks and uncertainties to our business. Our efforts 
to implement new services may place substantial additional demands on our employees, as well as our 
information systems and technology platforms. We may also need to invest significant additional 
resources in our people, processes, controls and information security. Failure to successfully implement 
new service offerings, including the appropriate controls, policies and procedures, information systems, 
and data privacy and security, could have a material adverse effect on our business, reputation, results of 
operations and financial condition.  

New service offerings, including health care benefits, may also introduce additional legislative and 
regulatory requirements with which we are not familiar, or from which we are currently exempt. Violation 
of such laws and regulations could subject us to fines, penalties, and damages, damage our reputation, 
constitute a breach of our client agreements, impair our ability to obtain and renew required licenses, and 
decrease our profitability or competitiveness. If any of these effects were to occur, our operating results 
and financial condition could be materially adversely affected. 

To continue to grow revenues, we are dependent on retaining current clients and attracting new 
clients. 
The Company’s revenue growth can be volatile and is dependent on same customer sales and the 
addition of new clients. Revenues increased 7.0% in 2024 and increased 1.4% in 2023. There can be no 
assurance that we will continue to maintain current levels of revenues. Efforts to achieve business growth 
intensifies pressure on retaining current clients and attracting increasing numbers of new clients. 

Our business is subject to risks associated with geographic market concentration. 
Our California operations accounted for approximately 72% of our total revenues in 2024. As a result of 
the current importance of our California operations and anticipated continued growth from these 
operations, our profitability over the next several years is expected to be largely dependent on economic 
and regulatory conditions in California. If California experiences an economic downturn, or if the 
regulatory environment changes in a way that adversely affects our ability to do business or limits our 
competitive advantages, our profitability and growth prospects may be materially adversely affected. 
Similarly, due to our geographic concentration in California, a natural disaster or major event that disrupts 
these markets or the related workforce could have an immediate and material adverse impact on our 
operations and profitability.  
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Economic conditions may impact our ability to attract new clients and cause our existing clients 
to reduce staffing levels or cease operations. 
Weak economic conditions, including periods of elevated inflation and interest rates, may have a negative 
impact on small-and mid-sized businesses, which make up the majority of our clients. In turn, these 
businesses could cut costs, including trimming employees from their payrolls, or closing locations or 
ceasing operations altogether. If current economic conditions were to weaken further, these forces may 
result in decreased revenues due both to the downsizing of our current clients and increased difficulties in 
attracting new clients in a poor economic environment. An economic downturn may also result in 
additional bad debt expense to the extent that existing clients cease operations or are otherwise unable to 
meet their financial obligations. Additionally, weak economic conditions may result in higher 
unemployment, which is correlated with increased workers’ compensation claims. The spread of a highly 
infectious or contagious disease, and the response by federal, state, and local government agencies, 
including preventative actions taken such as shelter-in-place orders, restrictions on travel, temporary 
closures of businesses deemed to be high-risk or non-essential, and other government mandates, could 
create significant economic disruption that results in a material reduction in business operations. Clients 
who are impacted by government restrictions and economic disruptions may experience liquidity and 
other financial issues, which may reduce their capacity to pay for our services. 

Additionally, trade policies, including tariffs or other import restrictions, may increase costs for our clients, 
particularly those reliant on global supply chains. Higher input costs due to tariffs could lead our clients to 
reduce payroll expenses, delay hiring, or cut jobs, which could negatively impact our revenue. Supply 
chain disruptions caused by trade restrictions may also result in business slowdowns or closures, further 
affecting our ability to grow and retain clients. These factors could have a material adverse effect on our 
results of operations and financial condition. 

Our business depends on reliable access to labor, which may be affected by economic 
conditions, government policies, and public health crises.  
Our PEO and staffing revenue is based on client payroll, and our business growth depends on the 
availability of a sufficient and stable workforce for our clients. The availability of labor may be affected by 
various factors, including, among others, economic conditions; demographic trends, including 
outmigration from states in which we operate; government policies on immigration; and public health 
crises. The spread of highly infectious diseases can reduce workforce participation due to illness, 
quarantine requirements, or caregiving responsibilities. Economic downturns or shifts in labor market 
dynamics can impact workforce participation rates and overall labor availability. Additionally, changes in 
government administrations can result in shifts in immigration policies, which may affect our clients’ ability 
to recruit and retain workers. Stricter visa requirements, limitations on work permits, delays in processing, 
or reductions in visa allocations could lead to labor shortages, particularly in industries that rely on 
immigrant labor, such as agriculture, construction, and hospitality. Businesses that depend on seasonal 
labor, including those utilizing temporary work visa programs, may be especially vulnerable to such 
changes. Any of these factors could adversely impact our business and financial performance. 

Our staffing business is vulnerable to economic fluctuations. 
Demand for our staffing services is sensitive to changes in the level of economic activity in the regions in 
which we do business. As economic activity slows down, companies often reduce their use of temporary 
employees before undertaking layoffs of permanent staff, resulting in decreased demand for staffing 
services. On the other hand, during strong economic periods or tight labor markets due to other factors, 
we often experience shortages of qualified employees to meet customer needs. 

Because we assume the obligation to make wage, tax and regulatory payments in respect of some 
employees, we are exposed to client credit risks. 
We generally assume credit risk associated with our clients’ employee payroll obligations, including 
liability for payment of salaries and wages (including payroll taxes), as well as retirement benefits. These 
obligations are fixed whether or not the client makes payments to us as required by our services 
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agreement. We attempt to mitigate this risk by invoicing our clients at the end of their specific payroll 
processing cycle. We also carefully monitor the timeliness of our clients' payments and impose strict 
credit standards on our customers. If we fail to successfully manage our credit risk, our results of 
operations and financial condition could be materially and adversely affected. 

Increases in unemployment claims could raise our state and federal unemployment tax rates that 
we may not be able to pass on to our customers. 
During weak economic conditions in our markets, the level of unemployment claims tends to rise as a 
result of employee layoffs at our clients and lack of work in our temporary staffing pool. The rise in 
unemployment claims often results in higher state and federal unemployment tax rates, which in most 
instances cannot be concurrently passed on to our customers either due to existing client services 
agreements or competitive pricing pressures. Increases in our state and federal unemployment tax rates 
could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, particularly in the early part of the 
calendar year when payroll tax rates are at or near their maximum. 

If we are unable to maintain our brand image and corporate reputation, our business may suffer. 
Our success depends in part on our ability to maintain our reputation for providing excellent service to our 
customers. Service quality issues, whether actual or perceived, and even when due to dissemination of 
false information or unfounded perceptions, could tarnish the image of our brand and may cause 
customers to use other companies. Also, adverse publicity surrounding labor relations, data breaches, 
SEC investigations, and the like, could negatively affect our overall reputation. Damage to our reputation 
could reduce demand for our services and thus have an adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition and results of operations. 

Our service agreements may be terminated on short notice, leaving us vulnerable to a significant 
loss of customers in a short period of time, if business or regulatory conditions change or events 
occur that negatively affect our reputation. 
Our client services agreements are generally terminable on 30 days’ notice by either us or our client. As a 
result, our clients may terminate their agreement with us at any time, making us particularly vulnerable to 
changing business or regulatory conditions or changes affecting our reputation or the reputation of our 
industry. 

We may be exposed to employment-related claims and costs and periodic litigation that could 
adversely affect our business and results of operations. 
We either co-employ employees in connection with our PEO client services agreements or place our 
employees in our customers' workplace in connection with our staffing business. As such, we are subject 
to several risks inherent to our status as the administrative employer, including without limitation: 

 claims of misconduct or negligence on the part of our employees, discrimination or 
harassment claims against our employees, or claims by our employees of discrimination or 
harassment by our clients; 

 immigration-related claims; 

 claims relating to violations of wage, hour and other workplace regulations; 

 claims relating to employee benefits, entitlements to employee benefits, or errors in the 
calculation or administration of such benefits; and 

 possible claims relating to misuse of customer confidential information, misappropriation of 
assets or other similar claims. 

If we experience significant incidents involving any of the above-described risk areas, we could face 
substantial out-of-pocket losses, fines or negative publicity. In addition, such claims may give rise to 
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litigation, which may be time-consuming, distracting and costly, and could have a material adverse effect 
on our business. With respect to claims involving our co-employer relationships, although our client 
services agreement provides that the client will indemnify us for any liability attributable to the conduct of 
the client or its employees, we may not be able to enforce such contractual indemnification, or the client 
may not have sufficient assets to satisfy its obligations to us. An increase in employment-related claims 
against us may have a material adverse effect on our results of operations. 

We are dependent on certain key personnel and recruitment and retention of key employees may 
be difficult and expensive. 
We believe that the successful operation of our business is dependent upon our retention of the services 
of key personnel, including our Chief Executive Officer, other executive officers and area managers. We 
may not be able to retain all our executives, senior managers and key personnel in light of competition for 
their services. If we lose the services of one of our executive officers or a significant number of our senior 
managers, our results of operations likely would be adversely affected. 

We depend on attracting and retaining qualified employees; during periods of economic growth, 
our costs to do so increase and attracting and retaining people becomes more difficult. 
Our teams of client-facing professionals are the foundation of our value proposition. Our ability to attract 
and retain qualified personnel could be adversely affected by lower unemployment rates and higher 
compensation levels. During periods of economic growth, we face increased competition for retaining and 
recruiting qualified personnel, resulting in higher advertising and recruiting costs and increased salary 
expenses. If we cannot attract and retain qualified employees, the quality of our services may deteriorate 
and our reputation and results of operations could be adversely affected. 

We do not have an expansive in-house sales staff and therefore rely extensively on referral 
partners. 
We currently maintain a limited internal professional sales force, instead relying heavily on referral 
partners to provide referrals to new business. In connection with these arrangements, we pay a fee to 
referral partners for new clients. These referral firms and individuals do not have an exclusive relationship 
with us. If we are unable to maintain these relationships or if our referral partners increase their fees or 
lose confidence in our services, we could face declines in our business and additional costs and 
uncertainties as we attempt to hire and train an internal sales force. 

Failure to maintain health insurance coverage or significant increases in the cost of health 
insurance coverage could adversely affect our business and results of operations. 
In 2023, BBSI began offering health insurance benefits as part of our PEO services. Our arrangement 
with third-party insurers provides health insurance coverage to BBSI’s PEO clients through December 31, 
2025, with the possibility of additional annual renewals. If our third-party insurers are unwilling or unable 
to renew our arrangement in the future, we would need to seek coverage from alternative insurers. If 
replacement coverage were unavailable or available only on significantly less favorable terms, our 
business and results of operations would be materially adversely affected. Additionally, if maintaining 
health insurance coverage becomes significantly more costly due to claims experience or other factors, 
this could also have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations. 

Our business is subject to risks associated with healthcare reforms. 
The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act and the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 
2010 (collectively, the “Acts”) subject us to potential penalties unless we offer our employees minimum 
essential healthcare coverage that is affordable. To comply with the employer mandate provision of the 
Acts, we offer health care coverage to all temporary and permanent employees eligible for coverage 
under the Acts other than employees of our PEO clients, which are responsible for providing required 
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health care coverage to their employees. Designating employees as eligible is complex and is subject to 
challenge by employees and the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”). While we believe we have properly 
identified eligible employees, a later determination that we failed to offer the required health coverage to 
eligible employees could result in penalties that may materially harm our business.  

Additionally, we began offering employee health and welfare benefits to our PEO clients beginning in 
2023. We cannot be certain that compliant insurance coverage will remain available to us on reasonable 
terms, and we could face additional risks arising from future changes to or repeal of the Acts or changed 
interpretations of our obligations under the Acts. If new healthcare legislation or future changes to the 
Acts were to increase the cost of providing health care benefits, or to limit our ability to offer health care 
benefits to our PEO clients, our business, operating results, and financial condition could be materially 
adversely affected. 

Failure to comply with applicable data security and privacy regulations related to our health care 
offering could adversely affect our business.  
As BBSI began offering health benefits to our PEO clients in 2023, we have access to protected health 
information ("PHI") of our client employees. Compliance with federal and state regulations such as HIPAA 
and the HITECH Act is required for handling this PHI. HIPAA imposes limitations on the use and 
disclosure of PHI, and sets requirements for health data privacy, security, and breach notification. Non-
compliance with HIPAA can lead to penalties and fines. Failure to appropriately comply with data security 
regulations could materially adversely impact our business, reputation, operating results, and financial 
condition.  

We face competition from several other companies. 
We face competition from various companies that may provide all or some of the services we offer. Our 
competitors include companies that are engaged in staffing services such as Robert Half International 
Inc., Kelly Services, Inc., and ManpowerGroup Inc.; companies that are focused on co-employment, such 
as Insperity, Inc., and TriNet Group, Inc.; and companies that primarily provide payroll processing 
services, such as Automatic Data Processing, Inc. and Paychex, Inc. We also compete with insurance 
carriers and other providers of workers’ compensation insurance, and our offerings must be priced 
competitively with prices provided by these competitors for us to attract and retain our clients. Maintaining 
competitive pricing in the workers’ compensation market could lead to reduced margins and profitability. 
Additionally, we face competition from information technology outsourcing firms and broad-based 
outsourcing and consulting firms that perform individual projects. 
Several of our existing or potential competitors have substantially greater financial, technical and 
marketing resources than we do, which may enable them to: 

 develop and expand their infrastructure and service offerings more quickly and achieve greater 
cost efficiencies; 

 invest in new technologies; 

 expand operations into new markets more rapidly; 

 devote greater resources to marketing; 

 compete for acquisitions more effectively and complete acquisitions more easily; and 

 aggressively price products and services and increase benefits in ways that we may not be 
able to match financially. 

To compete effectively in our markets, we must target our potential clients carefully, continue to improve 
our efficiencies and the scope and quality of our services, and rely on our service quality, innovation, 
education and program clarity. If our competitive advantages are not compelling or sustainable, then we 
are unlikely to increase or sustain profits and our stock price could decline. 
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Our investment portfolio is subject to market and credit risks, which could adversely impact our 
financial condition or results of operations. 
We seek to hold a diversified portfolio of high-quality investments that is managed by a professional 
investment advisory firm in accordance with our investment policy and routinely reviewed by management 
and approved by the Risk Management Committee of our Board of Directors. However, our investments, 
including those held as collateral for our various insurance programs, are subject to general economic 
conditions and market risks, as well as risks inherent to particular securities, including credit, interest rate 
and liquidity risks. Our portfolio consists primarily of fixed-rate debt securities and is subject to changing 
valuation based on interest rate fluctuations, and the risk that certain investments may default, become 
impaired due to deterioration in the financial condition of one or more issuers of the securities, or will 
need to be sold for realized losses. Although our investment strategy is designed to preserve our capital, 
we cannot be certain that our investment objectives will be achieved, and we could incur substantial 
realized and unrealized investment losses in future periods which could have a material adverse effect on 
our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

We may be unable to draw on our revolving credit facility in the future. 
If our business does not perform as expected, including if we generate less revenue than anticipated from 
our operations or encounter significant unexpected costs, we may fail to comply with the financial 
covenants under our credit facilities. If we do not comply with our financial covenants and we do not 
obtain a waiver or amendment from our lender, the lender may elect to cause all amounts owed to 
become immediately due and payable or may decline to renew our credit facility. In that event, we would 
seek to establish a replacement credit facility with one or more other lenders, including lenders with which 
we have an existing relationship, potentially on less desirable terms. There can be no guarantee that 
replacement financing would be available at commercially reasonable terms, if at all. 

Changes in our income tax positions or adverse outcomes resulting from on-going or future tax 
audits could harm our business, operating results, financial condition and prospects. 
Significant judgments and estimates are required in determining our provision for income taxes and other 
tax liabilities. In determining the adequacy of our tax provision, we assess the likelihood of adverse 
outcomes that could result if our tax positions were challenged by the IRS and other tax authorities. The 
tax authorities in the U.S. regularly examine our income and other tax returns. The ultimate outcome of 
tax examinations and disputes cannot be predicted with certainty. Should the IRS or other tax authorities 
assess additional taxes as a result of these or other examinations, we may be required to record charges 
to operations that could have a material impact on our results of operations, financial position or cash 
flows. 

Our long-term growth strategy may include acquisitions which could be unsuccessful or cause 
disruptions to our business, which could adversely impact our financial condition or results of 
operations.  
Potential future acquisitions may introduce several risks related to the integration of businesses, 
personnel, product lines, and technologies. If we discover compliance or regulatory issues after an 
acquisition, encounter greater than anticipated costs and/or use of management time associated with 
evaluating potential acquisitions and integrating acquired businesses into our operations, or are unable to 
successfully identify appropriate acquisition candidates, negotiate favorable terms, and successfully 
integrate an acquisition, our business, financial condition, and results of operation could be materially and 
adversely affected.  
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Risks Related to Our Regulatory Environment 
Failure to interpret and comply with applicable federal and state payroll tax and unemployment tax 
laws could materially adversely affect our business, reputation, results of operations and financial 
condition. 

As the administrative employer in our co-employer relationships with our clients, we are subject to a 
complex and evolving set of federal, state and local payroll tax laws and regulations, including 
requirements related to withholding, reporting and remitting payroll taxes on behalf of our clients. 
Compliance with these laws requires significant resources, and failure to comply with payroll tax laws in 
any jurisdiction in which we operate could subject us to financial penalties, interest charges and other 
liabilities. Additionally, our clients may be eligible for various legislative and regulatory programs, 
including those established under the CARES Act and the American Rescue Plan Act, such as the 
Employee Retention Tax Credit (“ERC”), which use payroll tax credits or deferrals as the mechanism to 
provide benefits to small businesses and employees. When clients and former clients wish to utilize these 
programs, the associated tax forms must be filed through the PEO, which creates additional 
administrative effort for the PEO. Additionally, determining eligibility for these programs is complex and is 
based on company-specific data that PEOs do not possess for their clients. If the IRS determines that 
clients who received payroll tax credits through BBSI are ineligible, and if the tax authorities or our clients 
attempt to hold BBSI liable for these amounts, this could have a materially adverse effect on our 
business, reputation, results of operation, and financial condition. 

We operate in a complex regulatory environment, and failure to comply with applicable laws and 
regulations could adversely affect our business. 
Corporate human resource operations are subject to a broad range of complex and evolving laws and 
regulations, including those applicable to payroll practices, benefits administration, employment practices, 
workers’ compensation coverage, and privacy. Because our clients have employees in many states 
throughout the United States, we must perform our services in compliance with the legal and regulatory 
requirements of multiple jurisdictions. Some of these laws and regulations may be difficult to ascertain or 
interpret and may change from time to time. Violation of such laws and regulations could subject us to 
fines, penalties, and damages, damage our reputation, constitute a breach of our client agreements, 
impair our ability to obtain and renew required licenses, and decrease our profitability or competitiveness. 
If any of these effects were to occur, our operating results and financial condition could be adversely 
affected. 

If we are determined not to be an “employer” under certain laws and regulations, our clients may 
stop using our services, and we may be subject to additional liabilities. 
We are the administrative employer in our co-employment relationships under the various laws and 
regulations of the IRS and the U.S. Department of Labor. If we are determined not to be the 
administrative employer under such laws and regulations and are therefore unable to assume our clients’ 
obligations for employment and other taxes, our clients may be held jointly and severally liable for 
payment of such taxes. Some clients or prospective clients may view such potential liability as an 
unacceptable risk, discouraging current clients from continuing a relationship with us or prospective 
clients from entering into a new relationship with us. Any determination that we are not the administrative 
employer for purposes of ERISA could also adversely affect our ability to offer health care benefits to our 
PEO clients by subjecting us to additional state and federal laws and regulations, and could materially 
adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations. 
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Changes in government regulations may result in restrictions or prohibitions applicable to the 
provision of employment services or the imposition of additional licensing, regulatory or tax 
requirements. 
Our business is heavily regulated, and we cannot provide assurance that regulatory authorities in 
jurisdictions in which we conduct or seek to conduct business will not: 

 impose additional regulations that prohibit or restrict employment-related businesses like ours; 

 require additional licensing or add restrictions on existing licenses to provide employment-
related services; or 

 increase taxes or make changes in the way in which taxes are calculated for providers of 
employment-related services. 

Any changes in applicable laws and regulations may make it more difficult or expensive for us to do 
business, inhibit expansion of our business, or result in additional expenses that limit our profitability or 
decrease our ability to attract and retain clients. 

We may find it difficult to expand our business into additional states due to varying state 
regulatory requirements. 
Future growth in our operations depends, in part, on our ability to offer our services to prospective clients 
in new states, which may subject us to different regulatory requirements and standards. To operate 
effectively in a new state, we must maintain all necessary licenses and regulatory approvals, adapt our 
procedures to that state's regulatory requirements and modify our service offerings to adapt to local 
market conditions. As we expand into additional states, we may not be able to duplicate in other markets 
the financial performance experienced in our current markets. 

Our wholly owned insurance companies are subject to substantial government regulation. 
Our wholly owned insurance companies are primarily regulated by state insurance commissioners in the 
states in which they conduct business. Such regulation includes monitoring the financial status of these 
companies, approving policies and premium rates, maintaining requirements for capital surplus and types 
of investments, and approving any significant changes to the legal or operating structure of these entities. 
State regulators can also impose taxes and other fees on insurance companies under their jurisdiction. 
These regulations may restrict our ability to operate these companies in the manner we believe is best, 
which could increase the cost of our operations, restrict our access to insurance coverage or adversely 
affect our liquidity. 

Increasing regulatory focus on privacy and security issues and expanding laws and regulatory 
requirements could impact our business models and expose us to increased liability. 
We are subject to national data protection, privacy and security laws, and regulations that relate to our 
various business units and data processing activities, which may include sensitive, confidential, and 
personal information. These laws, regulations and codes may be inconsistent across jurisdictions and are 
subject to evolving and differing (sometimes conflicting) interpretations. Government officials and 
regulators, privacy advocates and class action attorneys are increasingly scrutinizing how companies 
collect, process, use, store, share and transmit personal data. This scrutiny can result in new and shifting 
interpretations of existing laws, thereby further impacting our business. State laws on privacy, data and 
related technologies create additional privacy and security compliance obligations and expand the scope 
of potential liability. 

The dynamic and evolving nature of these laws, regulations and codes, as well as their interpretation by 
regulators and courts, may affect our ability to implement our business models effectively and to 
adequately address disclosure requirements. Perception of our practices and services, even if unfounded, 
as a violation of individual privacy, data protection rights or cybersecurity requirements, may subject us to 
public criticism, lawsuits, investigations, claims and other proceedings by regulators, industry groups or 
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other third parties, all of which could disrupt or adversely impact our business and reputation and expose 
us to increased liability, fines and other punitive measures. 

Risks Related to Ownership of our Common Stock 
Our stock price may be volatile or may decline, resulting in substantial losses for our 
stockholders. 
The market price of our Common Stock has been, and may continue to be, volatile for the foreseeable 
future. Important factors that may cause our trading price to decline include the factors listed below and 
other factors that may have a material adverse effect on our business or financial results, including those 
described above in this “Risk Factors” section: 

 actual or anticipated fluctuations in our results of operations, including a significant slowdown 
in our revenue growth or material increase in our workers’ compensation expense; 

 our failure to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting or otherwise discover 
material errors in our financial reporting; 

 imposition of significant fines or penalties or other adverse action by regulatory authorities 
against the Company; 

 adverse developments in legal proceedings involving claims against the Company; 

 our failure to meet financial projections or achieve financial results anticipated by analysts; or 

 changes in our Board of Directors or management. 

Maryland law and our Charter and bylaws contain provisions that could make the takeover of the 
Company more difficult. 
Certain provisions of Maryland law and our Charter and bylaws could have the effect of delaying or 
preventing a third-party from acquiring the Company, even if a change in control would be beneficial to 
our stockholders. These provisions of our Charter and bylaws permit the Board of Directors to issue up to 
500,000 shares of preferred stock with such rights and preferences, including voting rights, as the Board 
may establish, without further approval by the Company's stockholders, which could also adversely affect 
the voting power of holders of our Common Stock. 

In addition, the Company is subject to the Maryland control share act (the “Control Share Act”). Under the 
Control Share Act, a person (an “Acquiring Person”) who acquires voting stock in a transaction (a “Control 
Share Acquisition”) which results in its holding voting power within specified ranges cannot vote the 
shares it acquires in the Control Share Acquisition unless voting rights are accorded to such control 
shares by the holders of two-thirds of the outstanding voting shares, excluding the Acquiring Person and 
the Company's officers and directors who are also employees of the Company. 

The Company is also subject to the provisions of Maryland law limiting the ability of certain Maryland 
corporations to engage in specified business combinations (the “Business Combination Act”). Subject to 
certain exceptions, the Business Combination Act prohibits a Maryland corporation from engaging in a 
business combination with a stockholder who, with its affiliates, owns 10% or more of the corporation's 
voting stock. These provisions will not apply to business combinations that are approved by the Board of 
Directors before the stockholder became an interested stockholder. 

Item 1B.     UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS 
None. 
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Item 1C.     CYBERSECURITY 

Risk Management and Strategy 

Cybersecurity Risk Management Process 

We have developed and continue to enhance our cybersecurity program to help secure our computer 
systems, software, networks, and data against material risks from cybersecurity threats, and help manage 
the material cybersecurity risks associated with our use of third-party service providers. 

BBSI has integrated cybersecurity risk management into our overall risk management framework to 
identify, assess, and manage cybersecurity risks. As part of our integrated risk management process, our 
technology and information security team work closely with our management team on an ongoing basis to 
identify and respond to cybersecurity threats. Our proactive approach to cybersecurity risk management 
includes cybersecurity risk assessments performed internally by our IT security team and externally by 
third-party experts, penetration and vulnerability testing using third-party vendors and tools, tabletop 
exercises that simulate cybersecurity incidents, cybersecurity awareness training, and internal audit 
assessments of critical IT controls. 

Use of Cybersecurity Experts 

Due to the complex and evolving cybersecurity threat landscape, BBSI engages third-party experts to 
conduct in-depth threat assessments, identify vulnerabilities, monitor and detect threats, and offer 
strategic insights into our risk management process. Leveraging the knowledge, expertise, and resources 
of third-party experts, we regularly evaluate our cybersecurity risk management strategy to help us align 
with best practices and address cybersecurity threats that could impact our ability to achieve our business 
objectives. 

Third-Party Service Provider Risk Management 

We utilize third-party service providers for a variety of reasons, including, without limitation, infrastructure 
and SaaS cloud computing services, technology and business process service providers, content delivery 
to customers, back-office support, and other functions. Such providers may have access to information 
about BBSI or that we hold about our customers, associates or vendors.  

To mitigate the cybersecurity risk associated with the use of third-party service providers, we tier our third-
party service providers based on their risk profile to establish applicable cybersecurity risk review 
standards and evaluate those providers in accordance with the tiering process. BBSI also relies on its 
third-party service providers to maintain cybersecurity control environments that address the risks 
associated with the products and services they provide to BBSI. 

Cybersecurity Threats 

We are not aware of any risks from cybersecurity threats that have materially affected or are reasonably 
likely to materially affect BBSI, including our business strategy, results of operations, or financial 
condition.  Despite our efforts to ensure the integrity of our computer systems, software, networks, third-
party relationships, and other technology assets, we may not be able to anticipate, detect, or recognize 
threats to our systems and assets, or to implement effective preventative measures against all cyber 
threats, given the sophistication of the techniques used. For further discussion, see Item 1A. “Risk 
Factors – Risks Related to Technology." 

Governance 

Board Oversight of Cybersecurity Risk 

Our Board of Directors has a significant role in the oversight of BBSI’s cybersecurity risk. The Board’s 
Risk Management Committee provides oversight of BBSI’s enterprise-wide risk management framework, 
including the strategies, policies, procedures, processes, and systems established by management to 
identify, assess, measure, monitor, and manage cybersecurity and other risks facing the Company. The 
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Board of Directors also periodically receives reports from third-party consultants on the current 
cybersecurity threat environment, the results of third-party penetration testing, and the evaluation of the 
Company’s cybersecurity preparedness. 

Management’s Role in Assessing and Managing Cybersecurity Risk 

BBSI’s Chief Information Security Officer (“CISO”) leads our enterprise information security program and 
is primarily responsible for the assessment and management of the Company’s cybersecurity risks. The 
CISO has extensive experience in information technology and cybersecurity, including at another publicly 
traded company. The CISO oversees our cybersecurity risk management framework and manages a 
team of IT security professionals to identify and prioritize cybersecurity risks. The CISO also utilizes the 
expertise of third-party security partners to provide threat detection support, vulnerability management, 
incident response, penetration testing, and consulting services. 

Ongoing Monitoring and Reporting of Cybersecurity Incidents 

The Company has an internal security team, supplemented with third-party security partners, to regularly 
monitor, detect and respond to potential cybersecurity incidents. The Company has a cybersecurity 
incident reporting protocol that provides a mechanism for the appropriate members of management and 
the Board to be made aware of cybersecurity incidents. The Company also requires security awareness 
training for all internal employees to enable employees to understand their role in preventing and 
reporting cybersecurity incidents.  
Reporting to the Board of Directors 

The CISO and Chief Information Officer (“CIO”) regularly update the Board's Risk Management 
Committee on cybersecurity risks that the Company faces and the risk mitigation strategies that the 
Company employs to respond to those risks, with meetings generally occurring quarterly. 

Item 2. PROPERTIES 
We operate through 45 branches. The following table shows the number of branches in each state. We 
also lease office space in other locations in our market areas which we use to recruit and place 
employees. 
 

  Number of 
Offices  Branches 

California  20 
Oregon  4 
Washington  4 
Utah  3 
Arizona  2 
Colorado  2 
Idaho  2 
Maryland  2 
Nevada  2 
Delaware  1 
North Carolina  1 
Pennsylvania  1 
Tennessee  1 

 
On December 31, 2024, our leases had expiration dates ranging from less than one year to seven years. 
We own our 65,300 square foot corporate headquarters building, which is located in Vancouver, 
Washington. 
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Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 
BBSI is not subject to material legal proceedings and claims other than those which arise in the ordinary 
course of our business, except for those matters discussed in “Note 11 - Litigation” to the consolidated 
financial statements included in Item 8 of Part II of this report. 

Item 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES 
Not Applicable. 

Item 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER 
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES 

Our common stock (the "Common Stock") trades on the Global Select Market segment of The Nasdaq 
Stock Market under the symbol "BBSI." At February 7, 2025, there were 26 stockholders of record and 
approximately 10,741 beneficial owners of the Common Stock. 

The following table summarizes information related to stock repurchases during the quarter ended 
December 31, 2024.  

 

  Total      Total Number of   
Approximate Dollar 

Value of  
  Number of   Average Price   Shares Repurchased   Shares that May Yet  
  Shares   Paid   as Part of Publicly   Be Repurchased  
Month  Repurchased   Per Share   Announced Plan (1)   Under the Plan (1)  
           (in thousands)  
Oct 1 - Oct 31, 2024   —   $ —    —   $ 36,858  
Nov 1 - Nov 30, 2024   20,700    42.88    20,700    35,970  
Dec 1 - Dec 31, 2024   141,400    43.29    141,400    29,849  
Total   162,100       162,100     

(1) On July 31, 2023, the Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to $75.0 million of the Company’s 
common stock over a two-year period beginning July 31, 2023. As of December 31, 2024, the Company had 
repurchased 1,493,758 shares at an aggregate purchase price of $45.2 million under the new repurchase program. 
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The following graph shows the cumulative total return at the dates indicated for the period from 
December 31, 2019 until December 31, 2024, for our Common Stock, The Nasdaq Composite Index, and 
the S&P 1500 Human Resource & Employment Services Index, a published industry index that is 
considered reflective of the Company’s peers.  

The stock performance graph has been prepared assuming that $100 was invested on December 31, 
2019 in our Common Stock and the indexes shown, and that dividends are reinvested. The stock price 
performance reflected in the graph may not be indicative of future price performance. 

 
 
  12/19 12/20 12/21 12/22 12/23 12/24 

        
Barrett Business Services, Inc.   100.00 77.10 79.34 108.75 136.77 207.11 
NASDAQ Composite  100.00 144.92 177.06 119.45 172.77 223.87 
S&P 1500 Human Resource & 
Employment Services Index 100.00 100.85 152.43 113.87 121.22 143.93 
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Item 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND 
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

Overview 
The Company is a leading provider of business management solutions for small and mid-sized 
companies. The Company has developed a management platform that integrates a knowledge-based 
approach from the management consulting industry with tools from the human resource outsourcing 
industry. This platform, through the effective leveraging of human capital, helps our business owner 
clients run their businesses more effectively. We believe this platform, delivered through a decentralized 
organizational structure, differentiates BBSI from our competitors. 

We report revenues in our financial results in two categories of services: professional employer services 
(“PEO”) and staffing. 

With our PEO clients, we enter into a co-employment arrangement in which we become the administrative 
employer while the client maintains physical care, custody and control of their workforce. Our PEO 
services are billed as a percentage of client payroll; the gross amount invoiced includes direct payroll 
costs plus an additional percentage amount to cover employer payroll-related taxes, workers’ 
compensation coverage (if provided), other service-related costs and a margin. However, actual costs 
can be higher or lower than anticipated. PEO customers are invoiced following the end of each payroll 
processing cycle, with payment generally due on the invoice date. Revenues for PEO services exclude 
direct payroll billings because we are not the primary obligor for those payments. 

We generate staffing services revenues primarily from short-term staffing, contract staffing, on-site 
management and direct placement services. For staffing services other than direct placement, invoiced 
amounts include direct payroll, an amount intended to cover employer payroll-related taxes, workers’ 
compensation coverage, other service-related costs and a margin. Staffing customers are invoiced 
weekly and typically have payment terms of 30 days. Direct placement services are billed at agreed fees 
at the time of a successful placement. 

Our business is concentrated in California, and we expect to continue to derive a majority of our revenues 
from this market in the future. Revenues generated in our California operations accounted for 72% of our 
total revenues in 2024, 72% in 2023 and 73% in 2022. Consequently, weakness in economic conditions, 
changes in the regulatory or insurance environment, or natural disasters or other major disruptive events 
in California could have a material adverse effect on our financial results. 

Our cost of revenues for PEO services includes employer payroll-related taxes, workers’ compensation 
costs and employee benefits costs. Our cost of revenues for staffing services includes direct payroll costs, 
employer payroll-related taxes, and workers’ compensation costs. Direct payroll costs represent the gross 
payroll earned by staffing services employees based on salary or hourly wages. Payroll taxes and 
benefits consist of the employer’s portion of Social Security and Medicare taxes, federal and state 
unemployment taxes, and employee benefit costs, which primarily comprises health insurance premiums 
paid to third-party insurers and underwriting and benefit consultant payroll. Workers’ compensation costs 
consist primarily of premiums paid to third-party insurers, claims reserves, claims administration fees, 
legal fees, medical cost containment (“MCC”) expense, state administrative agency fees, third-party 
broker commissions, and risk manager payroll, as well as costs associated with operating our two wholly 
owned insurance companies, Associated Insurance Company for Excess (“AICE”) and Ecole Insurance 
Company (“Ecole”). 

Selling, general and administrative expenses consist primarily of payroll and personnel related costs, 
incentive compensation, information systems costs, rent and professional and legal fees. 

Depreciation and amortization represent depreciation of property and equipment, leasehold 
improvements, software and internally developed software costs. Property, equipment, software and 
internally developed software costs are depreciated using the straight-line method over their estimated 
useful lives, which range from 3 to 39 years. Leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-
line method over the shorter of the lease term or estimated useful life.  
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Critical Accounting Estimate 
We have identified the following accounting estimate as critical to our business and the understanding of 
our results of operations. For a detailed discussion of the application of this and other accounting policies, 
see “Note 1 - Summary of Operations and Significant Accounting Policies” to the consolidated financial 
statements in Item 8 of Part II of this report. The preparation of this Annual Report on Form 10-K requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses 
during the reporting period. Management bases its estimates on historical experience and on various 
other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form 
the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily 
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

Workers' Compensation Costs 

For all claims incurred under the Company’s workers’ compensation programs, we record an estimate for 
the total amount of workers’ compensation costs, which represents the amount necessary to pay claims 
and related expenses, including premiums to third-party insurers, with respect to workplace injuries that 
have occurred under our various workers’ compensation insurance programs.   

When a claim involving a probable loss is reported, our independent third-party administrator for workers’ 
compensation claims (“TPA”) establishes a case reserve for the estimated amount of ultimate loss. The 
estimate reflects a judgment based on established case reserving practices and the experience and 
knowledge of the TPA regarding the nature and expected amount of the claim, as well as the estimated 
expenses of settling the claim, including legal and other fees and expenses of claims administration. The 
adequacy of such case reserves depends in part on the professional judgment of the TPA to evaluate the 
economic consequences of each claim properly and comprehensively. 

Our estimate of ultimate losses includes an additional component for potential future increases in the cost 
to finally resolve open injury claims and claims incurred in prior periods but not reported (together, 
"IBNR") based on actuarial estimates provided by the Company’s independent actuary. IBNR does not 
apply to a specific claim but rather applies to the entire population of claims arising from a specific time 
period. IBNR primarily covers costs relating to: 

 Future claim payments in excess of case reserves on recorded open claims;  

 Additional claim payments on closed claims; and  

 Claims that have occurred but have not yet been reported to us.  

The process of estimating claims and claims adjustment expense involves a high degree of judgment and 
is affected by both internal and external events, including changes in claims handling practices, 
modifications in reserve estimation procedures, changes in individuals involved in the reserve estimation 
process, inflation, trends in the litigation and settlement of pending claims, and legislative changes. 

Our estimates are based on actuarial analyses and informed judgment, derived from individual 
experiences and expertise applied to multiple sets of data and analyses. We consider significant facts 
and circumstances known both at the time that loss reserves are initially established and as new facts 
and circumstances become known. Due to the inherent uncertainty underlying loss estimates, the 
ultimate expense incurred will likely vary from the related loss estimate at the reporting date. Therefore, 
as specific claims are paid out in the future, actual paid losses may be materially different from our current 
loss estimates.  

A basic premise in most actuarial analyses is that historical data and past patterns demonstrated in the 
incurred and paid historical data form a reasonable basis upon which to project future outcomes, absent a 
material change. Significant structural changes to the available data can materially impact the estimation 
process. To the extent a material change affecting the ultimate claim amount becomes known, such 
change is quantified to the extent possible through an analysis of internal company data and, if available 
and when appropriate, external data. Actuaries exercise a considerable degree of judgment in the 
evaluation of these factors and the need for such actuarial judgment is more pronounced when faced with 
material uncertainties. 
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To illustrate the sensitivity of changes in our estimate of workers’ compensation costs, a 5% increase in 
estimated ultimate losses for 2024 would result in a $0.5 million increase in workers’ compensation 
expense, and a 5% decrease in estimated ultimate losses would result in a $7.1 million decrease to 
workers’ compensation expense. This asymmetric impact on workers’ compensation expense is due to 
our insured program, which limits our expense if claim costs increase but passes through savings if claim 
costs are lower than expected. 

We believe that the amounts that we have recorded for our estimated workers’ compensation costs are 
reasonable. Nevertheless, adjustments to such estimates will be required in future periods if the 
development of claim costs varies materially from our estimates, and such future adjustments may be 
material to our results of operations. 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements 
For a discussion of recent accounting pronouncements and their potential effect on the Company's results 
of operations and financial condition, see “Note 1 - Summary of Operations and Significant Accounting 
Policies” to the consolidated financial statements in Item 8 of Part II of this report. 

Forward-Looking Information 
Statements in this Item or in Items 1, 1A, 3 and 9A of this report include forward-looking statements, 
which are not historical in nature and are forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private 
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These forward-looking statements include, among others, 
discussion of economic conditions in our market areas, especially in California, and their effect on 
revenue levels; the competitiveness of our service offerings; the availability of certain fully insured 
medical and other health and welfare benefits to qualifying worksite employees; our ability to attract and 
retain clients and to achieve revenue growth; the effect of changes in our mix of services on gross 
margin; labor market conditions; the adequacy of our workers' compensation reserves; the effect of 
changes in estimates of our future claims liabilities on our workers’ compensation reserves, including the 
effect of changes in our reserving practices and claims management process on our actuarial estimates; 
expected levels of required surety deposits and letters of credit; the outcome of audits; the effect of our 
formation and operation of two wholly owned licensed insurance subsidiaries; the risks of operation and 
cost of our insured program; the financial viability of our excess insurance carriers; the effectiveness of 
our management information systems; our relationship with our primary bank lender and the availability of 
financing and working capital to meet our funding requirements; litigation costs; the effect of changes in 
the interest rate environment on the value of our investment securities; the adequacy of our allowance for 
expected credit losses; and the potential for and effect of acquisitions. 

All our forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that 
may cause the actual results, performance or achievements of the Company to be materially different 
from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking 
statements. Such factors with respect to the Company include: our ability to retain current clients and 
attract new clients; difficulties associated with integrating clients into our operations; economic trends in 
our service areas and the potential effects of changing governmental policies and natural disasters; the 
potential for material deviations from expected future workers’ compensation claims experience; changes 
in the workers’ compensation regulatory environment in our primary markets; PEO client benefit costs, 
particularly with regard to health insurance benefits; security breaches or failures in the Company’s 
information technology systems; collectability of accounts receivable; changes in executive management; 
changes in effective payroll tax rates and federal and state income tax rates; the carrying values of 
deferred income tax assets and goodwill (which may be affected by our future operating results); the 
effects of inflation on our operating expenses and those of our clients; the impact of and potential 
changes to the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, escalating medical costs, and other health 
care legislative initiatives on our business; the effect of changing interest rates and conditions in the 
global capital markets on our investment portfolio; and the availability of capital, borrowing capacity on 
our revolving credit facility, or letters of credit necessary to meet state-mandated surety deposit 
requirements for maintaining our status as a qualified self-insured employer for workers' compensation 
coverage or our insured program. Additional risk factors affecting our business are discussed in Item 1A 
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of Part I of this report. We disclaim any obligation to publicly announce any revisions to any of the 
forward-looking statements contained herein to reflect future events or developments. 

Results of Operations 
The following table sets forth the percentages of total revenues represented by selected items in the 
Company's consolidated statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 
2022, included in Item 8 of Part II of this report.  
 
  Percentage of Total Net Revenues   
($ in thousands)  Years Ended December 31,   
  2024    2023    2022   
Revenues:                      

Professional employer services  $ 1,063,386    92.9  %  $ 982,268    91.9  %  $ 937,363    88.9  % 
Staffing services   81,145    7.1     87,039    8.1     116,963    11.1   

Total revenues   1,144,531    100.0     1,069,307    100.0     1,054,326    100.0   
Cost of revenues:                      

Direct payroll costs   61,010    5.3     65,042    6.1     87,944    8.3   
Payroll taxes and benefits   628,534    54.9     555,758    52.0     522,392    49.5   
Workers’ compensation   201,736    17.6     205,975    19.2     209,145    19.8   

Total cost of revenues   891,280    77.8     826,775    77.3     819,481    77.7   
Gross margin   253,251    22.2     242,532    22.7     234,845    22.3   
Selling, general and administrative  
   expenses   185,869    16.2     174,772    16.3     169,642    16.1   
Depreciation and amortization   7,601    0.7     7,110    0.7     6,228    0.6   
Income from operations   59,781    5.3     60,650    5.7     58,975    5.6   
Other income, net   11,041    1.0     8,338    0.8     6,328    0.6   
Income before income taxes   70,822    6.3     68,988    6.5     65,303    6.2   
Provision for income taxes   17,829    1.6     18,376    1.7     18,035    1.7   

Net income  $ 52,993    4.7  %  $ 50,612    4.8  %  $ 47,268    4.5  % 
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We report PEO revenues net of direct payroll costs because we are not the primary obligor for wage 
payments to our clients’ employees. However, management believes that gross billings and wages are 
useful in understanding the volume of our business activity and serve as an important performance metric 
in managing our operations, including the preparation of internal operating forecasts and establishing 
executive compensation performance goals. We therefore present for purposes of analysis gross billings 
and wage information for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022.  
 
 Year Ended  
 December 31,  
(in thousands) 2024   2023   2022  
Gross billings $ 8,327,091  $ 7,716,152   $ 7,393,808  
PEO and staffing wages $ 7,245,093  $ 6,711,115   $ 6,425,286  

In monitoring and evaluating the performance of our operations, management also reviews the following 
ratios, which represent selected amounts as a percentage of gross billings. Management believes these 
ratios are useful in understanding the efficiency and profitability of our service offerings. 
 
 Percentage of Gross Billings  
 Year Ended  
 December 31,  
 2024   2023   2022  
PEO and staffing wages  87.0 %   87.0 %   86.9 % 
Payroll taxes and benefits  7.6 %   7.2 %   7.0 % 
Workers' compensation  2.4 %   2.7 %   2.9 % 
Gross margin  3.0 %   3.1 %   3.2 % 
 
We refer to employees of our PEO clients as worksite employees (“WSEs”). Management reviews 
average and ending WSE growth to monitor and evaluate the performance of our operations. Average 
WSEs are calculated by dividing the number of unique individuals paid in each month by the number of 
months in the period. Ending WSEs represents the number of unique individuals paid in the last month of 
the period. 
 
 Year Ended  
 December 31,  
   

2024   

Year-over-
year 

% Growth   2023   

Year-over-
year 

% Growth   2022  
Average WSEs  129,577    4.2 %   124,306    1.9 %   122,001  
Ending WSEs  132,069    4.4 %   126,446    3.4 %   122,306  
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Years Ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 
Net income for 2024 was $53.0 million compared to net income of $50.6 million for 2023. Diluted net 
income per share for 2024 was $1.98 compared to diluted income per share of $1.85 for 2023. 

Revenue for 2024 totaled $1,144.5 million, an increase of $75.2 million or 7.0% over 2023, which reflects 
an increase in the Company’s PEO service revenue of $81.1 million or 8.3% and a decrease in staffing 
services revenue of $5.9 million or 6.8%. 

The increase in PEO services revenues was primarily attributable to a 4.2% increase in average number 
of WSEs as well as a 3.4% increase in average billing per WSE. 

Gross margin for 2024 totaled $253.3 million or 22.2% of revenue compared to $242.5 million or 22.7% of 
revenue for 2023. The decrease in gross margin as a percentage of revenues is primarily a result of the 
factors discussed within the separate components of gross margin below. 

Direct payroll costs for 2024 totaled $61.0 million or 5.3% of revenue compared to $65.0 million or 6.1% 
of revenue for 2023. The decrease in direct payroll costs as a percentage of revenues was primarily due 
to a decrease in staffing services within the mix of our customer base in 2024 as compared to 2023. 

Payroll taxes and benefits for 2024 totaled $628.5 million or 54.9% of revenue compared to $555.8 million 
or 52.0% of revenue for 2023. The increase in payroll taxes and benefits expense as a percentage of 
revenue was primarily due to higher average payroll tax rates in 2024 and PEO client benefit costs of 
$33.4 million in 2024 compared to $10.5 million in 2023. 

Workers’ compensation expense for 2024 totaled $201.7 million or 17.6% of revenue compared to $206.0 
million or 19.2% of revenue for 2023. The decrease in workers’ compensation expense as a percentage 
of revenue was primarily due to lower workers' compensation costs in the current year as well as 
favorable prior year liability and premium adjustments of $18.5 million in 2024, compared to prior year 
liability and premium adjustments of $14.9 million in 2023. 

Selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) expenses for 2024 totaled $185.9 million or 16.2% of 
revenue compared to $174.8 million or 16.3% of revenue for 2023. The increase of $11.1 million in SG&A 
expense was primarily attributable to increased employee-related costs, including increased variable 
employee compensation and incentive pay related to stronger financial results compared to 2023. 

Other income, net for 2024 totaled $11.0 million compared to other income of $8.3 million for 2023. The 
increase was primarily attributable to an increase in investment income in 2024.  

Our effective income tax rate for 2024 was 25.2% compared to 26.6% for 2023. Our income tax rate 
typically differs from the federal statutory tax rate of 21% primarily due to state taxes as well as federal 
and state tax credits. See “Note 8 - Income Taxes” to the consolidated financial statements included in 
Item 8 of Part II of this report for additional information regarding income taxes. 

A discussion of our financial condition and results of operations for 2023 compared to 2022 can be found 
in Part II, Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year 
ended December 31, 2023, filed with the SEC on March 1, 2024. 
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Fluctuations in Quarterly Operating Results 
We historically have experienced significant fluctuations in our quarterly operating results, including 
losses or minimal income in the first quarter of each year, and expect such fluctuations to continue in the 
future. Our operating results may fluctuate due to a number of factors such as seasonality, wage limits on 
statutory payroll taxes, claims experience for workers’ compensation, demand for our services, and 
competition. Payroll taxes, as a component of cost of revenues, generally decline throughout a calendar 
year as the applicable statutory wage bases for federal and state unemployment taxes and Social 
Security taxes are exceeded on a per employee basis. Our revenue levels may be higher in the third 
quarter due to the effect of increased business activity of our customers’ businesses in the agriculture, 
food processing and forest products-related industries. In addition, revenues in the fourth quarter may be 
reduced by many customers’ practice of operating on holiday-shortened schedules. Workers’ 
compensation expense varies with both the frequency and severity of workplace injury claims reported 
during a quarter and the estimated future costs of such claims. Positive or adverse loss development of 
prior period claims during a subsequent quarter may also contribute to the volatility in the Company’s 
estimated workers’ compensation expense. 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 
The Company's cash balance of $82.6 million, which includes cash, cash equivalents, and restricted 
cash, increased $7.7 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2024, compared to a decrease of 
$32.5 million for the comparable period of 2023. The increase in cash at December 31, 2024 as 
compared to December 31, 2023 was primarily due to proceeds from the sale and maturities of 
investments and restricted investments, increased accrued payroll and related benefits, and net income, 
partially offset by increased trade accounts receivable, decreased workers' compensation claim liabilities, 
purchases of investments and restricted investments, and repurchases of common stock. 

Net cash provided by operating activities in 2024 amounted to $10.1 million, compared to net cash 
provided of $67.2 million for the comparable period of 2023. In 2024, net cash provided by operating 
activities was primarily due to increased accrued payroll and related benefits of $55.2 million and net 
income of $53.0 million, largely offset by increased trade accounts receivable of $63.1 million and 
decreased workers’ compensation claims liabilities of $39.4 million. 

Net cash provided by investing activities totaled $38.8 million in 2024, compared to net cash used of 
$55.2 million for the comparable period of 2023. In 2024, net cash provided by investing activities 
consisted primarily of proceeds from the sale and maturity of investments and restricted investments of 
$90.8 million, partially offset by the purchases of investments and restricted investments of $37.9 million 
and the purchase of property, equipment and software of $14.2 million. 

Net cash used in financing activities in 2024 was $41.1 million compared to net cash used of $44.6 million 
for the comparable period of 2023. In 2024, net cash used in financing activities primarily consisted of 
repurchases of common stock of $29.1 million and dividend payments of $8.1 million. 

The Company is required to maintain minimum collateral levels for certain policies issued under the 
insured program, which is held in a trust account (the “trust account”). The balance in the trust account 
was $197.1 million and $210.9 million at December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively. The 
trust account balance is included as a component of the current and long-term restricted cash and 
investments in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. 

See “Note 5 - Revolving Credit Facility and Long-Term Debt” to the consolidated financial statements 
included in Item 8 of Part II of this report for information regarding the Company’s credit agreement with 
Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. 
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Contractual Obligations 
The Company's contractual obligations as of December 31, 2024 are summarized below: 
 

  As of December 31, 2024  
  Payments Due by Period  

(in thousands)     Less than   1 - 3   4 - 5   After  
  Total   1 Year   Years   Years   5 Years  

Operating leases (1)  $ 30,755   $ 7,772   $ 13,397   $ 7,063  $ 2,523  
Total contractual obligations  $ 30,755   $ 7,772   $ 13,397   $ 7,063  $ 2,523  

(1) As of December 31, 2024, the Company has additional operating leases that have not yet 
commenced of $7.1 million and remaining balances on short-term operating leases of $0.06 million, 
included in the table above. In January 2022, the Company paid off all of its long-term debt. 

Item 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK 
The Company's exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates primarily relates to its investment 
portfolio and outstanding borrowings on its line of credit. The Company's investments and restricted 
investments, which are classified as available-for-sale, consist primarily of fixed-rate debt securities, the 
fair value of which fluctuates with prevailing interest rates. Our cash equivalents consist primarily of 
money market funds, which are not meaningfully impacted by interest rate risk. We attempt to limit our 
investment portfolio's exposure to market risk through low investment turnover and diversification. Based 
on the Company's overall interest exposure at December 31, 2024, a 50 basis point increase in market 
interest rates would have a $4.2 million downward effect on the fair value of the Company's investment 
portfolio. Outstanding borrowings on the Company's line of credit bear interest at a variable market rate, 
which makes the cost of borrowing on the line of credit susceptible to changing interest rates. At 
December 31, 2024, the Company had no outstanding borrowings on its line of credit. 
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Item 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA 

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of 
Barrett Business Services, Inc. 

Opinion on the Financial Statements 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Barrett Business Services, Inc. and 
subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the related consolidated 
statements of operations, comprehensive income, stockholders' equity, and cash flows, for each of the 
three years in the period ended December 31, 2024, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the 
"financial statements"). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, and the results of its 
operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2024, in 
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight 
Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) 
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated 
February 28, 2025, expressed an unqualified opinion on the Company's internal control over financial 
reporting.  

Basis for Opinion 
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to 
express an opinion on the Company's financial statements based on our audits. We are a public 
accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the 
Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of 
the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that 
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are 
free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures 
to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and 
performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, 
evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included 
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a 
reasonable basis for our opinion. 

Critical Audit Matter  
The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current-period audit of the 
financial statements that were communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and 
that (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our 
especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters 
does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by 
communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit matters or 
on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate. 
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Workers' Compensation Claims Liabilities 

Workers’ compensation claims liabilities represent management’s estimate of future obligation amounts 
under workers’ compensation programs where the Company retains the risk. These estimates utilize 
actuarial expertise and projection techniques at a given reporting date, and are based on an evaluation of 
information provided by the Company’s third-party administrator for workers’ compensation claims, 
coupled with an actuarial estimate of future loss development with respect to reported claims and incurred 
but not reported claims (together, “IBNR”). The Company’s estimates are based on actuarial analysis and 
informed judgment, derived from individual experience and expertise applied to multiple sets of data and 
analyses. The Company considers significant facts and circumstances known both at the time that loss 
reserves are initially established, and as new facts and circumstances become known. 

Given the subjectivity of estimating future loss development with respect to reported claims and incurred 
but not reported claims, the related audit procedures to evaluate the workers’ compensation claims 
liabilities required a high degree of auditor judgment and an increased extent of effort, including 
involvement of our actuarial specialists. 

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit 

Our audit procedures related to the workers’ compensation claims liabilities included the following: 

 We tested the effectiveness of controls related to the workers’ compensation claims liabilities, 
including those involving management’s estimates and ultimate loss projections. 

 We tested the underlying data that served as the basis for the actuarial analysis, including 
historical claims, to test that the inputs to the actuarial estimate were complete and accurate. 

 With the assistance of our actuarial specialists, we evaluated the methods and assumptions 
used by management to estimate the workers’ compensation claims liabilities by: 

o Performing a retrospective review, including comparing management’s prior year 
estimates of expected incurred losses to actual experience during the current year, to 
identify potential bias in the determination of the workers’ compensation claims liabilities. 

o Developing a range of independent estimates of the workers’ compensation claims 
liabilities, and comparing our estimated ranges to management’s estimates and 
assessed the consistency of management’s approach. 

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP 
Portland, Oregon  
February 28, 2025 

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2016.   
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Barrett Business Services, Inc. 
Consolidated Balance Sheets 
December 31, 2024 and 2023 

(In Thousands, Except Par Value) 
 
 
  December 31,   December 31,  
   2024   2023  

ASSETS       
Current assets:       

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 55,367   $ 71,168  
Investments   66,492    81,027  
Trade accounts receivable, net   234,533    171,407  
Income taxes receivable   2,662    7,987  
Prepaid expenses and other   18,698    18,443  
Restricted cash and investments   97,690    97,470  

Total current assets   475,442    447,502  
Property, equipment and software, net   56,781    50,295  
Operating lease right-of-use assets   20,329    19,898  
Restricted cash and investments   134,454    145,583  
Goodwill   47,820    47,820  
Other assets   6,205    6,222  
Deferred income taxes   4,477    4,218  
Total assets  $ 745,508   $ 721,538  

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY       
Current liabilities:       

Accounts payable  $ 6,787   $ 6,593  
Accrued payroll and related benefits   215,648    160,930  
Payroll taxes payable   49,685    73,150  
Current operating lease liabilities   6,231    6,623  
Current premium payable   31,134    35,276  
Other accrued liabilities   10,330    10,674  
Workers' compensation claims liabilities   39,081    50,006  

Total current liabilities   358,896    343,252  
Long-term workers' compensation claims liabilities   89,365    117,757  
Long-term premium payable   49,840    37,812  
Long-term operating lease liabilities   15,215    14,590  
Customer deposits and other long-term liabilities   10,788    8,987  
Total liabilities   524,104    522,398  
Commitments and contingencies (Notes 5, 7 and 11)       
Stockholders' equity:       

Common stock, $.01 par value; 82,000 shares authorized, 25,784 
   and 26,290 shares issued and outstanding in 2024 and 2023, respectively (1)   258    263  
Additional paid-in capital   40,396    36,743  
Accumulated other comprehensive loss   (19,245 )   (20,801 ) 
Retained earnings   199,995    182,935  

Total stockholders' equity   221,404    199,140  
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity  $ 745,508   $ 721,538  

(1) Prior period results have been adjusted to reflect the four-for-one stock split effected in the form of a stock dividend 
in June 2024. See the Business section in Item 1 of Part I of this report for details. 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Barrett Business Services, Inc. 
Consolidated Statements of Operations 

Years Ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 
(In Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts) 

  
  
 Year Ended  
 December 31,  

 2024  2023  2022  
Revenues:       

Professional employer services $ 1,063,386  $ 982,268  $ 937,363  
Staffing services  81,145   87,039   116,963  

Total revenues  1,144,531   1,069,307   1,054,326  
Cost of revenues:       

Direct payroll costs  61,010   65,042   87,944  
Payroll taxes and benefits  628,534   555,758   522,392  
Workers' compensation  201,736   205,975   209,145  

Total cost of revenues  891,280   826,775   819,481  
Gross margin  253,251   242,532   234,845  

Selling, general and administrative expenses  185,869   174,772   169,642  
Depreciation and amortization  7,601   7,110   6,228  

Income from operations  59,781   60,650   58,975  
Other income (expense):       

Investment income, net  11,130   8,643   6,476  
Interest expense  (178 )  (166 )  (141 ) 
Other, net  89   (139 )  (7 ) 

Other income, net  11,041   8,338   6,328  
Income before income taxes  70,822   68,988   65,303  

Provision for income taxes  17,829   18,376   18,035  
Net income $ 52,993  $ 50,612  $ 47,268  

Basic income per common share (1) $ 2.03  $ 1.88  $ 1.66  
Weighted average number of basic common shares outstanding (1)  26,076   26,921   28,521  
Diluted income per common share (1) $ 1.98  $ 1.85  $ 1.64  
Weighted average number of diluted common shares outstanding (1)  26,708   27,394   28,905  

(1) Prior period results have been adjusted to reflect the four-for-one stock split effected in the form of a stock dividend 
in June 2024. See the Business section in Item 1 of Part I of this report for details. 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Barrett Business Services, Inc. 
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income 
Years Ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 

(In Thousands) 
  
 
  Year Ended  
  December 31,  
  2024   2023   2022  
Net income  $ 52,993   $ 50,612   $ 47,268  
Unrealized gains (losses) on investments, net of tax of $595, $2,596, and 
($10,958) in 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively   1,556    6,793    (28,673 ) 
Comprehensive income  $ 54,549   $ 57,405   $ 18,595  

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Barrett Business Services, Inc. 
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity 
Years Ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 

(In Thousands) 
  
 
           Accumulated        
          Other        
       Additional   Comprehensive        
 Common Stock   Paid-in   Income   Retained     
 

Shares (1)   
Amount 

(1)   Capital (1)   (Loss)   Earnings   Total  
Balance, December 31, 2021  29,660   $ 297   $ 28,831   $ 1,079   $ 178,323   $ 208,530  
Common stock issued on exercise of options, 
   purchase of ESPP shares and vesting of  
   restricted stock units and performance awards  339    3    708    —    —    711  
Common stock repurchased on vesting of 
   restricted stock units and performance awards  (92 )   (1 )   (1,691 )   —    —    (1,692 ) 
Share-based compensation expense  —    —    7,390    —    —    7,390  
Company repurchase of common stock  (2,424 )   (24 )   (2,700 )   —    (44,444 )   (47,168 ) 
Cash dividends on common stock ($0.30 
   per share)  —    —    —    —    (8,524 )   (8,524 ) 
Unrealized loss on investments, net of tax  —    —    —    (28,673 )   —    (28,673 ) 
Net income  —    —    —    —    47,268    47,268  
Balance, December 31, 2022  27,483   $ 275   $ 32,538   $ (27,594 )  $ 172,623   $ 177,842  
Common stock issued on exercise of options, 
   purchase of ESPP shares and vesting of  
   restricted stock units and performance awards  436    4    698    —    —    702  
Common stock repurchased on vesting of 
   restricted stock units and performance awards  (130 )   (1 )   (2,992 )   —    —    (2,993 ) 
Share-based compensation expense  —    —    8,465    —    —    8,465  
Company repurchase of common stock  (1,499 )   (15 )   (1,966 )   —    (32,211 )   (34,192 ) 
Cash dividends on common stock ($0.30 
   per share)  —    —    —    —    (8,089 )   (8,089 ) 
Unrealized gain on investments, net of tax  —    —    —    6,793    —    6,793  
Net income  —    —    —    —    50,612    50,612  
Balance, December 31, 2023  26,290   $ 263   $ 36,743   $ (20,801 )  $ 182,935   $ 199,140  
Common stock issued on exercise of options, 
   purchase of ESPP shares and vesting of  
   restricted stock units and performance awards  497    5    926    —    —    931  
Common stock repurchased on vesting of 
   restricted stock units and performance awards  (153 )   (2 )   (4,835 )   —    —    (4,837 ) 
Share-based compensation expense  —    —    8,840    —    —    8,840  
Company repurchase of common stock  (850 )   (8 )   (1,278 )   —    (27,847 )   (29,133 ) 
Cash dividends on common stock ($0.31  
   per share)  —    —    —    —    (8,086 )   (8,086 ) 
Unrealized gain on investments, net of tax  —    —    —    1,556    —    1,556  
Net income  —    —    —    —    52,993    52,993  
Balance, December 31, 2024  25,784   $ 258   $ 40,396   $ (19,245 )  $ 199,995   $ 221,404  

(1) Prior period results have been adjusted to reflect the four-for-one stock split effected in the form of a stock dividend 
in June 2024. See the Business section in Item 1 of Part I of this report for details. 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Barrett Business Services, Inc. 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 

Years Ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 
(In Thousands) 

  
  
  Year Ended  
  December 31,  
  2024   2023   2022  
Cash flows from operating activities:          

Net income  $ 52,993   $ 50,612   $ 47,268  
Reconciliations of net income to net cash provided by operating 
activities:          
Depreciation and amortization   7,601    7,110    6,228  
Non-cash operating lease expense   6,470    7,036    6,955  
Investment (accretion) amortization and (gains) losses recognized   (221 )   1,396    1,859  
Losses recognized on disposal of property and equipment   65    256    139  
Deferred income taxes   (854 )   4,626    (2,169 ) 
Share-based compensation   8,840    8,465    7,390  
Changes in certain operating assets and liabilities:          

Trade accounts receivable   (63,126 )   (7,569 )   (8,131 ) 
Income taxes   5,325    (8,597 )   (1,063 ) 
Prepaid expenses and other   (255 )   1,344    (2,181 ) 
Accounts payable   194    (1,671 )   3,779  
Accrued payroll and related benefits   55,170    5,698    12,219  
Payroll taxes payable   (23,465 )   7,030    12,697  
Other accrued liabilities   (736 )   (4,177 )   1,371  
Premium payable   7,886    54,168    12,081  
Workers' compensation claims liabilities   (39,350 )   (51,246 )   (64,222 ) 
Operating lease liabilities   (6,668 )   (7,099 )   (6,740 ) 
Other assets and liabilities, net   218    (160 )   298  

Net cash provided by operating activities   10,087    67,222    27,778  
Cash flows from investing activities:          

Purchase of property, equipment and software   (14,160 )   (11,827 )   (15,973 ) 
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment   8    120    —  
Purchase of investments   (7,902 )   (4,387 )   —  
Proceeds from sales and maturities of investments   23,319    10,352    18,732  
Purchase of restricted investments   (29,971 )   (66,734 )   (4,345 ) 
Proceeds from sales and maturities of restricted investments   67,491    17,289    62,740  

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities   38,785    (55,187 )   61,154  
Cash flows from financing activities:          

Proceeds from credit-line borrowings  415    12,313    —  
Payments on credit-line borrowings   (415 )   (12,313 )   —  
Payments on long-term debt  —    —    (3,510 ) 
Repurchase of common stock  (29,133 )   (34,192 )   (47,168 ) 
Common stock repurchased on vesting of stock awards   (4,837 )   (2,993 )   (1,692 ) 
Dividends paid  (8,086 )   (8,089 )   (8,524 ) 
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and purchase of ESPP   931    702    711  

Net cash used in financing activities   (41,125 )   (44,572 )   (60,183 ) 
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash  7,747    (32,537 )   28,749  

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of period   74,841    107,378    78,629  
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of period  $ 82,588   $ 74,841   $ 107,378  

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Barrett Business Services, Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

 
Note 1 - Summary of Operations and Significant Accounting Policies 

Nature of operations 
Barrett Business Services, Inc. (“BBSI” or the “Company”), is a leading provider of business management 
solutions for small and mid-sized companies. The Company has developed a management platform that 
integrates a knowledge-based approach from the management consulting industry with tools from the 
human resource outsourcing industry. This platform, through the effective leveraging of human capital, 
helps our business owner clients run their businesses more effectively. 

We believe this platform, delivered through our decentralized organizational structure, differentiates BBSI 
from our competitors. The Company supports clients with a local presence in 67 markets throughout the 
United States. Approximately 72%, 72% and 73%, respectively, of our revenue during 2024, 2023 and 
2022 was attributable to our California operations. BBSI was incorporated in Maryland in 1965. 

The Company operates a wholly owned, fully licensed captive insurance company, Associated Insurance 
Company for Excess ("AICE") and a wholly owned, fully licensed insurance company, Ecole. AICE and 
Ecole provide access to more competitive and cost-effective insurance markets and provide cost-effective 
risk management. See “Note 4 - Workers’ Compensation Claims” for additional information on the 
Company’s insurance programs. 

Principles of consolidation 
The accompanying financial statements are prepared on a consolidated basis. All intercompany account 
balances and transactions between BBSI, AICE, and Ecole have been eliminated in consolidation. 

Common stock split  
On June 4, 2024, we amended our Charter to increase the number of authorized shares of common stock 
from 20,500,000 shares to 82,000,000 shares, and our Board of Directors declared a four-for-one split of 
the Company’s common stock effected in the form of a stock dividend (the “2024 Stock Split”). Each 
stockholder of record at the close of business on June 14, 2024 received a dividend of three additional 
shares of common stock for each then-held share, distributed after close of trading on June 21, 2024. All 
share and per share amounts presented herein have been retroactively adjusted to reflect the impact of 
the 2024 Stock Split. The shares of common stock retain a par value of $0.01 per share. Accordingly, an 
amount equal to the par value of the increased shares resulting from the stock split was reclassified from 
additional paid-in capital to common stock. 

Reportable segment 
BBSI has one operating and reportable segment which provides business management solutions to small 
and mid-sized companies. The Company’s Chief Executive Officer is the chief operating decision maker 
(“CODM”). The CODM is provided financial information presented on a consolidated basis, including 
consolidated gross margin and consolidated net income, to assess the financial performance of the 
Company and to decide how to allocate resources, including by reinvesting profits into our single 
operating segment or pursuing other strategic initiatives, such as stock repurchases or acquisitions. The 
financial information presented to the CODM, including the expense categories, is consistent with the 
financial information contained in these consolidated financial statements. 

The accounting policies of our reportable segment are the same as those of the consolidated entity. 

BBSI derives revenue exclusively in the United States and all of the Company’s long-lived assets are 
located in the United States.  
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Revenue recognition 
Professional employer (“PEO”) services are normally used by organizations to satisfy ongoing needs 
related to the management of human capital and are governed by the terms of a client services 
agreement which covers all employees at a particular work site. Staffing revenues relate primarily to 
short-term staffing, contract staffing and on-site management services. The Company’s performance 
obligations for PEO and staffing services are satisfied, and the related revenue is recognized, as services 
are rendered by our workforce.  

Our PEO client service agreements have a minimum term of one year, are renewable on an annual basis 
and typically require 30 days’ written notice to cancel or terminate the contract by either party. In addition, 
our client service agreements provide for immediate termination upon any payment default of the client 
regardless of when notice is given. PEO customers are invoiced following the end of each payroll 
processing cycle, with payment generally due on the invoice date. Staffing customers are generally 
invoiced weekly based on agreed rates per employee and actual hours worked, typically with payment 
terms of 30 days. The amount of earned but unbilled revenue is classified as a receivable on the 
consolidated balance sheets. 

We report PEO revenues net of direct payroll costs because we are not the primary obligor for these 
payments to our clients’ employees. Direct payroll costs include salaries, wages, health insurance, and 
employee out-of-pocket expenses incurred incidental to employment.  

Cost of revenues 
Our cost of revenues for PEO services includes employer payroll-related taxes, workers' compensation 
costs, and employee benefits costs. Our cost of revenues for staffing services includes direct payroll 
costs, employer payroll-related taxes, and workers’ compensation costs. Direct payroll costs represent the 
gross payroll earned by staffing services employees based on salary or hourly wages. Payroll taxes 
consist of the employer's portion of Social Security and Medicare taxes and federal and state 
unemployment taxes. Benefit costs primarily comprise health insurance premiums paid to third-party 
carriers as part of our fully insured PEO benefits programs and underwriting and benefit consultant 
payroll. Workers' compensation costs consist primarily of premiums paid to third-party insurers, claims 
reserves, claims administration fees, legal fees, medical cost containment (“MCC”) expense, state 
administrative agency fees, third-party broker commissions, risk manager payroll, as well as costs 
associated with operating our two wholly owned insurance companies, AICE and Ecole. 

Cash and cash equivalents 
We consider non-restricted short-term investments that are highly liquid, readily convertible into cash, and 
have maturities at acquisition of less than three months to be cash equivalents for purposes of the 
consolidated statements of cash flows and consolidated balance sheets. The Company maintains cash 
balances in bank accounts that normally exceed FDIC insured limits. The Company has not experienced 
any losses related to its cash concentration. 

Investments 
The Company classifies investments as available-for-sale. The Company’s investments are reported at 
fair value with unrealized gains and losses, net of taxes, shown as a component of accumulated other 
comprehensive loss in stockholders' equity. Investments are recorded as current on the consolidated 
balance sheets as the invested funds are available for current operations. Management considers 
available evidence in evaluating potential impairment of investments, including the extent to which fair 
value is less than cost and adverse conditions related to the security. In the event of a credit loss, an 
allowance would be recognized to the extent that the fair value of the security is less than the present 
value of the expected future cash flows. Realized gains and losses on sales of investments are included 
in investment income, net in our consolidated statements of operations. Investment income, net in the 
consolidated statements of operations includes interest income of $10.9 million, $9.1 million, and $6.8 
million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 
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Restricted cash and investments 
The Company holds restricted cash and investments primarily for the future payment of insurance 
premiums and workers’ compensation claims. These investments are categorized as available-for-sale. 
They are reported at fair value with unrealized gains and losses, net of taxes, shown as a component of 
accumulated other comprehensive loss in stockholders’ equity. Restricted cash and investments are 
classified as current and noncurrent on the consolidated balance sheets based on the nature of the 
restriction. Management considers available evidence in evaluating potential impairment of restricted 
investments, including the extent to which fair value is less than cost and adverse conditions related to 
the security. In the event of a credit loss, an allowance would be recognized to the extent that the fair 
value of the security is less than the present value of the expected future cash flows. Realized gains and 
losses on sales of restricted investments are included in investment income in our consolidated 
statements of operations. 

Restricted cash and investments also includes investments held as part of the Company’s deferred 
compensation plan. These investments are classified as trading securities and are recorded at fair value 
with unrealized gains and losses reported as a component of income from operations. 

Concentration of credit risk 
Financial instruments that potentially subject us to concentration of credit risk consist primarily of cash 
equivalents, investments, restricted cash and investments, and trade accounts receivable. We limit 
investment of cash equivalents and investments to financial institutions with high credit ratings. Credit risk 
on trade accounts is minimized as a result of the large and diverse nature of our customer base. 

Trade accounts receivable 
PEO customers are invoiced following the end of each payroll processing cycle with payment generally 
due on the invoice date and staffing customers are generally invoiced weekly with payment terms of 30 
days. The balance in trade accounts receivable is comprised primarily of unbilled receivables of $218.8 
million and $157.9 million at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The remaining balance of $16.6 
million and $14.4 million in trade accounts receivable at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, is 
primarily related to outstanding billings to PEO and staffing clients, offset by an allowance for expected 
credits losses of $0.9 million at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.   

Allowance for expected credit losses 
The Company had an allowance for expected credit losses of $0.9 million at December 31, 2024 and 
2023. We make estimates of the collectability of our accounts receivable for services provided to our 
customers based on future expected credit losses. Management analyzes historical bad debts, customer 
concentrations, customer credit-worthiness, current economic trends and changes in customers' payment 
trends when evaluating the adequacy of the allowance for expected credit losses. If the financial condition 
of our customers deteriorates resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional 
allowances may be required. 

Our allowance for expected credit losses activity is summarized as follows (in thousands): 
 

  2024   2023   2022  
Balance at January 1,          

Allowance for expected credit losses  $ 885   $ 893   $ 460  
Charges to expense   72    98    462  
Write-offs of uncollectible accounts, net 
   of recoveries   (72 )   (106 )   (29 ) 

Balance at December 31,          
Allowance for expected credit losses  $ 885   $ 885   $ 893  
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Income taxes 
Our income taxes are accounted for using an asset and liability approach. This requires the recognition of 
deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences 
between the financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities at the applicable tax rates. A 
valuation allowance is recorded against deferred tax assets if, based on the weight of the available 
evidence, it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The 
factors used to assess the likelihood of realization include the Company’s forecast of the reversal of 
temporary differences, future taxable income and available tax planning strategies that could be 
implemented to realize the net deferred tax assets. Failure to achieve forecasted taxable income in 
applicable tax jurisdictions could affect the ultimate realization of deferred tax assets and could result in 
an increase in the Company’s effective tax rate on future earnings. 

The determination of our provision for income taxes requires significant judgment, the use of estimates, 
and the interpretation and application of complex tax laws. Significant judgment is required in assessing 
the timing and amounts of deductible and taxable items and the probability of sustaining uncertain tax 
positions. The Company recognizes the tax benefit from uncertain tax positions if it is more likely than not 
that the tax positions will be sustained on examination by the tax authorities. The tax benefit is measured 
based on the largest benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate 
settlement. As facts and circumstances change, we reassess these probabilities and record any changes 
in the consolidated financial statements as appropriate. The Company recognizes interest and penalties 
related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense. 

Goodwill and intangible assets 
Goodwill is recorded as the difference, if any, between the aggregate consideration paid for a business 
combination and the fair value of the net assets acquired. Goodwill is not amortized but is evaluated for 
impairment annually, or more frequently if circumstances indicate that it is more likely than not that the fair 
value of the operating segment is below its carrying value. The Company has one operating and 
reportable segment and evaluates the carrying value of goodwill annually at December 31. No impairment 
has been recognized in the periods presented. 

Property, equipment and software 
Property, equipment and software are stated at cost. Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are 
charged to selling, general and administrative expenses as incurred and expenditures for additions and 
improvements to property and equipment are capitalized. The cost of assets sold or otherwise disposed 
of and the related accumulated depreciation are eliminated from the accounts, and any resulting gain or 
loss is reflected in the consolidated statements of operations. 

We capitalize software development costs incurred during the application development stage, which is 
the stage when preliminary project planning ends and software development begins. Capitalized costs 
generally include both internal and external costs associated with coding and testing. Capitalized costs 
are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life, commencing when the software is 
placed into service. Costs incurred during the preliminary project stage and the post-implementation 
stage, as well as general and administrative and overhead costs, are expensed as they are incurred.  

Depreciation of property and equipment and amortization of software is calculated using the straight-line 
method over estimated useful lives of the related assets or lease terms, as follows: 
 

  Years 
Buildings  39 
Equipment, furniture and fixtures  7 - 15 
Computer hardware, software and software development costs  3 - 10 
Leasehold improvements  1 - 7 
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Impairment of long-lived assets 
Long-lived assets, such as property, equipment and software and acquired intangibles subject to 
amortization, are reviewed for impairment annually, or whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the remaining estimated useful life may warrant revision or that the carrying amount of an 
asset may not be recoverable. Some of the events or changes in circumstances that would trigger an 
impairment review include, but are not limited to, significant under-performance relative to expected 
and/or historical results, significant negative industry or economic trends, or knowledge of transactions 
involving the sale of similar property at amounts below the carrying value. 

Assets are grouped for measurement of impairment at the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows 
are largely independent of the cash flows of other assets. If the carrying amount of an asset group 
exceeds the estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset group, then 
an impairment charge is recognized to the extent the carrying amount exceeds the asset group’s fair 
value. In determining fair value, management considers current results, trends, future prospects, and 
other economic factors.  

Leases  
The Company leases office facilities and equipment under operating leases. We determine whether an 
arrangement is or contains a lease at inception. For all leases with a term greater than 12 months, we 
record our operating lease liabilities and right-of-use (ROU) assets at the lease commencement date. 
Operating lease liabilities are based on the present value of future minimum lease payments over the 
lease term, and include options to renew a lease in the future minimum lease payments if it is reasonably 
certain that the Company will exercise that option. ROU assets are based on the lease liability, adjusted 
for any lease prepayments and lease incentives. If a lease does not provide an implicit interest rate, we 
use our incremental borrowing rate on a collateralized basis from the information available at 
commencement date in determining the present value of lease payments. We recognize expense for 
lease payments on a straight-line basis over the lease term for operating leases. Leases with initial terms 
of 12 months or less are considered short-term lease costs and are not recorded as ROU assets on the 
consolidated balance sheets. ROU assets are reviewed for impairment in the same manner as long-lived 
assets. No impairment has been recorded in the periods presented.  

The Company has elected the practical expedient not to separate non-lease components from lease 
components for all classes of assets. Our lease agreements generally do not contain material variable 
lease payments or restrictive covenants. 

Workers’ compensation claims liabilities 
Our workers’ compensation claims liabilities do not represent an exact calculation of liability but rather 
management’s best estimate of future obligation amounts under workers' compensation programs where 
the Company retains risk. These estimates utilize actuarial expertise and projection techniques, at a given 
reporting date, and are based on an evaluation of information provided by our third-party administrator for 
workers’ compensation claims, coupled with an actuarial estimate of future loss development with respect 
to reported claims and incurred but not reported claims (together, “IBNR”). Workers’ compensation claims 
liabilities include case reserve estimates for reported losses, plus additional amounts for estimated IBNR 
claims, MCC and legal costs, unallocated loss adjustment expenses and estimated future recoveries. The 
estimate of incurred costs expected to be paid within one year is included in current liabilities, while the 
estimate of incurred costs expected to be paid beyond one year is included in long-term liabilities on our 
consolidated balance sheets. These estimates are reviewed at least quarterly and adjustments to 
estimated liabilities are reflected in current operating results as they become known. 
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The process of arriving at an estimate of unpaid claims and claims adjustment expense involves a high 
degree of judgment and is affected by both internal and external events, including changes in claims 
handling practices, changes in reserve estimation procedures, inflation, trends in the litigation and 
settlement of pending claims, and legislative changes. 

Our estimates are based on actuarial analysis and informed judgment, derived from individual experience 
and expertise applied to multiple sets of data and analyses. We consider significant facts and 
circumstances known both at the time that loss reserves are initially established and as new facts and 
circumstances become known. Due to the inherent uncertainty underlying loss reserve estimates, the 
expenses incurred through final resolution of our liability for our workers’ compensation claims will likely 
vary from the related loss reserves at the reporting date. Therefore, as specific claims are paid out in the 
future, actual paid losses may be materially different from our current loss reserves. 

A basic premise in most actuarial analyses is that historical data and past patterns demonstrated in the 
incurred and paid historical data form a reasonable basis upon which to project future outcomes, absent a 
material change. Significant structural changes to the available data can materially impact the reserve 
estimation process. To the extent a material change affecting the ultimate claim liability becomes known, 
such change is quantified to the extent possible through an analysis of internal Company data and, if 
available and when appropriate, external data. Nonetheless, actuaries exercise a considerable degree of 
judgment in the evaluation of these factors and the need for such actuarial judgment is more pronounced 
when faced with material uncertainties. 

Customer deposits 
We require deposits from certain PEO customers to cover a portion of our accounts receivable due from 
such customers in the event of default of payment. 

Comprehensive income  
Comprehensive income includes all changes in equity during a period except those that resulted from 
investments by or distributions to the Company's stockholders. 

Other comprehensive income refers to revenues, expenses, gains and losses that under U.S. generally 
accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) are included in comprehensive income, but excluded from net 
income as these amounts are recorded directly as an adjustment to stockholders' equity. Our other 
comprehensive income comprises unrealized holding gains and losses on our available-for-sale 
investments. 

Statements of cash flows 
Interest paid in 2024, 2023 and 2022 did not materially differ from interest expense. Income taxes paid by 
the Company totaled $14.9 million, $22.2 million, and $21.0 million in 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 

Bank deposits and other cash equivalents that are restricted for use are classified as restricted cash. The 
table below reconciles the cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash balances from our consolidated 
balance sheets to the amounts reported on the consolidated statements of cash flows (in thousands): 
 
  December 31,   December 31,   December 31,  
  2024   2023   2022  
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 55,367   $ 71,168   $ 91,423  
Restricted cash, included in restricted cash and investments   27,221    3,673    15,955  
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash shown in the  
   statements of cash flows  $ 82,588   $ 74,841   $ 107,378  
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Basic and diluted earnings per share 
Basic earnings per share are computed based on the weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding for each year using the treasury method. Diluted earnings per share reflect the potential 
effects of the issuance of shares in connection with the exercise of outstanding stock options, vesting of 
outstanding restricted stock units and performance share units, and the Company’s employee stock 
purchase plan. Basic and diluted shares outstanding are summarized as follows (in thousands): 
 
  Year Ended  
  December 31,  
  2024   2023   2022  
Weighted average number of basic shares outstanding   26,076    26,921    28,521  
Effect of dilutive securities   632    473    384  
Weighted average number of diluted shares outstanding   26,708    27,394    28,905  

Accounting estimates 
The preparation of our consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management 
to make estimates and assumptions. These affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the 
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Management bases its 
estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying 
values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Estimates are used for 
fair value measurement of investments, allowance for expected credit losses, deferred income taxes, 
carrying values for goodwill and property, equipment and software, and accrued workers' compensation 
liabilities. Actual results may or may not differ from such estimates. 

Reclassifications 
To conform to the current period’s presentation, the prior period balance of accrued payroll, payroll taxes 
and related benefits on the consolidated balance sheets of $234.1 million was disaggregated into accrued 
payroll and related benefits of $160.9 million and payroll taxes payable of $73.2 million. In the 
consolidated statements of cash flows, the 2023 amount of net cash inflows from accrued payroll, payroll 
taxes and related benefits of $12.7 million was disaggregated into net cash inflows from accrued payroll 
and related benefits of $5.7 million and net cash inflows from payroll taxes payable of $7.0 million. For 
2022, net cash inflows from accrued payroll, payroll taxes and related benefits of $24.9 million was 
disaggregated into net cash inflows from accrued payroll and related benefits of $12.2 million and net 
cash inflows from payroll taxes payable of $12.7 million. 

To conform to the current period’s presentation, safety incentives liability of $1.3 million was reclassified 
to other accrued liabilities in the prior period consolidated balance sheets, and net cash outflows from 
safety incentives liability of $0.8 million and $2.3 million were reclassified to other accrued liabilities in the 
prior period consolidated statements of cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively. 

All share and per share amounts presented herein have been retroactively adjusted to reflect the impact 
of the 2024 Stock Split. To conform to the current period’s presentation, additional paid-in-capital of 
approximately $0.2 million was reclassified to common stock in the prior period consolidated balance 
sheets and prior periods' consolidated statements of stockholders' equity. 
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Recent accounting pronouncements 
The following Accounting Standards Updates (ASUs) have been recently issued by the Financial 
Accounting Standards Board (FASB). 

ASU 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures 

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, which expands annual and interim reportable 
segment disclosure requirements, primarily through enhanced disclosures about significant segment 
expenses. ASU 2023-07 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023 and interim 
periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024. We have adopted this ASU on a 
retrospective basis for the annual reporting period of our fiscal year beginning January 1, 2024 with no 
material effects on the Company’s financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows. 

ASU 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures 

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, which requires disaggregated information about a 
reporting entity’s effective tax rate reconciliation as well as information on income taxes paid. The ASU 
applies to all entities subject to income taxes. The new requirements will be effective for annual periods 
beginning after December 15, 2024. The guidance will be applied on a prospective basis with the option 
to apply the standard retrospectively. Early adoption is permitted. We plan to adopt this ASU for the 
annual reporting period of our fiscal year beginning January 1, 2025. We are evaluating the impact of 
applying this new accounting guidance to our income tax disclosures but do not expect the adoption of 
this ASU to have any material effects on the Company’s financial condition, results of operations, or cash 
flows. 

ASU 2024-03, Income Statement—Reporting Comprehensive Income—Expense Disaggregation 
Disclosures (Subtopic 220-40): Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses (“DISE”) 

In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-03, which requires disclosure of specified information 
about certain costs and expenses in the notes to interim and annual financial statements. The 
amendments in this ASU are effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2026 
and interim reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2027. Early adoption is permitted. The 
amendments in this ASU should be applied either (1) prospectively to financial statements issued for 
reporting periods after the effective date or (2) retrospectively to any or all prior periods presented in the 
financial statements. We are evaluating the impact of this new accounting standard but do not expect the 
adoption of this ASU to have any material effects on the Company’s financial condition, results of 
operations, or cash flows. 
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Note 2 - Fair Value Measurement 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. 

All of our financial instruments are recognized in our consolidated balance sheets. Carrying values 
approximate fair value of most financial assets and liabilities. Investments and restricted cash and 
investments are recorded at market value. The interest rates on our investments approximate current 
market rates for these types of investments. 

In determining the fair value of our financial assets, the Company predominantly uses the market 
approach. In determining the fair value of all its corporate bonds, mortgage-backed securities, U.S. 
treasuries, U.S. government agency securities, mutual funds, money market funds, asset-backed 
securities, and emerging markets, the Company utilizes non-binding quotes provided by our investment 
brokers. 

Factors used in determining the fair value of our financial assets and liabilities are summarized into three 
levels as established in the fair value hierarchy framework. The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are 
described below. 

Level 1 – Inputs to the valuation methodology are unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or 
liabilities in active markets. 

Level 2 – Inputs to the valuation methodology include: 

 Quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets; 

 Quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in inactive markets; 

 Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability; 

 Inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data by 
correlation or other means. 

Level 3 – Inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to the fair value 
measurement. 

In determining the fair value measurement of our financial assets, the fair value measurement level within 
the hierarchy is based on the lowest level input and is applied to each financial asset. Valuation 
techniques are used to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable 
inputs. 
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The following table summarizes the Company’s investments at December 31, 2024 and 2023 measured 
at fair value on a recurring basis (in thousands): 

 
  December 31, 2024   December 31, 2023  
     Gross   Gross         Gross   Gross     
     Unrealized   Unrealized   Recorded      Unrealized   Unrealized   Recorded  
  Cost   Gains   Losses   Basis   Cost   Gains   Losses   Basis  
Current:                         
Cash equivalents:                         

Money market funds  $ 26,661   $ —   $ —   $ 26,661   $ 19,539   $ —   $ —   $ 19,539  
Total cash equivalents   26,661    —    —    26,661    19,539    —    —    19,539  

Investments:                         
Corporate bonds   27,954    3    (2,365 )   25,592    34,472    2    (3,161 )   31,313  
U.S. government agency securities   12,734    —    (203 )   12,531    12,830    —    (408 )   12,422  
U.S. treasuries   12,460    —    (1,140 )   11,320    12,448    —    (1,253 )   11,195  
Mortgage-backed securities   12,128    —    (2,592 )   9,536    13,084    —    (2,454 )   10,630  
Asset-backed securities   7,610    12    (109 )   7,513    13,659    4    (191 )   13,472  
Emerging markets   —    —    —    —    2,003    —    (8 )   1,995  
Total current investments   72,886    15    (6,409 )   66,492    88,496    6    (7,475 )   81,027  

Restricted cash and investments (1):                         
Corporate bonds   100,030    16    (7,302 )   92,744    82,481    19    (8,473 )   74,027  
U.S. treasuries   54,900    —    (6,348 )   48,552    109,020    21    (6,436 )   102,605  
Mortgage-backed securities   40,858    10    (5,674 )   35,194    42,077    2    (5,218 )   36,861  
U.S. government agency securities   16,785    —    (914 )   15,871    16,863    —    (1,199 )   15,664  
Mutual funds   10,961    —    —    10,961    8,941    —    —    8,941  
Asset-backed securities   1,666    6    (1 )   1,671    799    1    (1 )   799  
Money market funds   216    —    —    216    337    —    —    337  
Emerging markets   200    1    —    201    200    2    —    202  
Total restricted cash and 
investments   225,616    33    (20,239 )   205,410    260,718    45    (21,327 )   239,436  
Total investments  $ 325,163   $ 48   $ (26,648 )  $ 298,563   $ 368,753   $ 51   $ (28,802 )  $ 340,002  

 
  
(1) Included in restricted cash and investments within the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2024 and 
2023 is restricted cash of $26.7 million and $3.6 million, respectively, which is excluded from the table above. 
Restricted cash and investments are classified as current and noncurrent on the balance sheet based on the nature 
of the restriction. 
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The following table summarizes the Company's investments at December 31, 2024 and 2023 measured 
at fair value on a recurring basis by fair value hierarchy level (in thousands): 
 
  December 31, 2024   December 31, 2023  
  Total               Total              
  Recorded               Recorded              
  Basis   Level 1   Level 2   Level 3   Other (1)   Basis   Level 1   Level 2   Level 3   Other (1)  
Cash equivalents:                               

Money market  
   funds  $ 26,661   $ —   $ —   $ —   $ 26,661  $ 19,539   $ —   $ —   $ —   $ 19,539  

Investments:                               
Corporate bonds   25,592    —    25,592    —    —   31,313    —    31,313    —    —  
U.S. government  
   agency securities   12,531    —    12,531    —    —   12,422    —    12,422    —    —  
U.S. treasuries   11,320    —    11,320    —    —   11,195    —    11,195    —    —  
Mortgage-backed  
   securities   9,536    —    9,536    —    —   10,630    —    10,630    —    —  
Asset-backed securities   7,513    —    7,513    —    —   13,472    —    13,472    —    —  
Emerging markets   —    —    —    —    —   1,995    —    1,995    —    —  

Restricted cash and investments:                               
Corporate bonds   92,744    —    92,744    —    —   74,027    —    74,027    —    —  
U.S. treasuries   48,552    —    48,552    —    —   102,605    —    102,605    —    —  
Mortgage-backed  
   securities   35,194    —    35,194    —    —   36,861    —    36,861    —    —  
U.S. government  
   agency securities   15,871    —    15,871    —    —   15,664    —    15,664    —    —  
Mutual funds   10,961    10,961    —    —    —   8,941    8,941    —    —    —  
Asset-backed securities   1,671    —    1,671    —    —   799    —    799    —    —  
Money market  
   funds   216    —    —    —    216   337    —    —    —    337  
Emerging markets   201    —    201    —    —   202    —    202    —    —  
Total investments  $ 298,563   $ 10,961   $ 260,725   $ —   $ 26,877  $ 340,002   $ 8,941   $ 311,185   $ —   $ 19,876  

 
(1) Investments in money market funds measured at fair value using the net asset value per share practical expedient 
are not subject to hierarchy level classification disclosure. The Company invests in money market funds that seek to 
maintain a stable net asset value. These investments include commingled funds that comprise high-quality short-term 
securities representing liquid debt and monetary instruments where the redemption value is likely to be the fair value. 
Redemption is permitted daily without written notice. 
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The following table summarizes the contractual maturities of the Company’s available for sale securities 
at December 31, 2024 and 2023. Actual maturities may differ from contractual maturities because 
borrowers may have the right to prepay obligations with or without prepayment penalties. The table also 
includes money market funds, which are classified as cash and cash equivalents on the Company’s 
consolidated balance sheets. 
 
 December 31, 2024  

(In thousands) 
Less than 1 

Year   
Between 1 to 5 

Years   
Between 5 to 

10 Years   After 10 Years   Total  
Corporate bonds $ 18,815   $ 76,574   $ 22,947  $ —  $ 118,336  
U.S. treasuries  497    42,333    17,042   —   59,872  
U.S. government agency securities  8,014    19,333    1,055   —   28,402  
Money market funds  26,877    —    —   —   26,877  
Asset-backed securities  —    1,228    6,654   1,302   9,184  
Emerging markets  —    —    201   —   201  
Total $ 54,203   $ 139,468   $ 47,899  $ 1,302  $ 242,872  
               
 December 31, 2023  

(In thousands) 
Less than 1 

Year   
Between 1 to 5 

Years   
Between 5 to 

10 Years   After 10 Years   Total  
U.S. treasuries $ 55,955   $ 32,706   $ 25,139  $ —  $ 113,800  
Corporate bonds  6,859    67,731    30,574   176   105,340  
U.S. government agency securities  39    27,018    1,029   —   28,086  
Money market funds  19,876    —    —   —   19,876  
Asset-backed securities  —    799    12,182   1,290   14,271  
Emerging markets  1,995    —    202   —   2,197  
Total $ 84,724   $ 128,254   $ 69,126  $ 1,466  $ 283,570  
 
The average contractual maturity of mortgage-backed securities, which are excluded from the table 
above, was 21 years and 23 years as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 
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The fair values and gross unrealized losses of the Company’s available for sale securities that were in an 
unrealized loss position as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, aggregated by investment category and 
length of time that individual securities have been in a continuous loss position, were as follows (in 
thousands): 
 

  December 31, 2024  
  Less than 12 months   12 months or longer   Total  
     Gross      Gross      Gross  
  Recorded   Unrealized   Recorded   Unrealized   Recorded   Unrealized  
  Basis   Losses   Basis   Losses   Basis   Losses  
Investments:                   

Corporate bonds  $ 20   $ —   $ 25,377   $ (2,365 )  $ 25,397   $ (2,365 ) 
U.S. government agency securities   —    —    12,531    (203 )   12,531    (203 ) 
U.S. treasuries   —    —    11,320    (1,140 )   11,320    (1,140 ) 
Mortgage-backed securities   —    —    9,536    (2,592 )   9,536    (2,592 ) 
Asset-backed securities   —    —    1,301    (109 )   1,301    (109 ) 
Total investments   20    —    60,065    (6,409 )   60,085    (6,409 ) 

Restricted investments:                   
Corporate bonds   11,142    (15 )   71,716    (7,287 )   82,858    (7,302 ) 
U.S. treasuries   1,399    (29 )   46,656    (6,319 )   48,055    (6,348 ) 
Mortgage-backed securities   3,360    (37 )   29,877    (5,637 )   33,237    (5,674 ) 
U.S. government agency securities   —    —    15,871    (914 )   15,871    (914 ) 
Asset-backed securities   443    (1 )   —    —    443    (1 ) 
Total restricted investments   16,344    (82 )   164,120    (20,157 )   180,464    (20,239 ) 
Total investments and restricted 
investments  $ 16,364   $ (82 )  $ 224,185   $ (26,566 )  $ 240,549   $ (26,648 ) 

                   
  December 31, 2023  

  Less than 12 months   12 months or longer   Total  
     Gross      Gross      Gross  
  Recorded   Unrealized   Recorded   Unrealized   Recorded   Unrealized  
  Basis   Losses   Basis   Losses   Basis   Losses  
Investments:                   

Corporate bonds  $ —   $ —   $ 31,122   $ (3,161 )  $ 31,122   $ (3,161 ) 
U.S. government agency securities   562    (20 )   11,859    (388 )   12,421    (408 ) 
U.S. treasuries   —    —    11,195    (1,253 )   11,195    (1,253 ) 
Mortgage-backed securities   —    —    10,629    (2,454 )   10,629    (2,454 ) 
Asset-backed securities   —    —    5,268    (191 )   5,268    (191 ) 
Emerging Markets   —    —    1,995    (8 )   1,995    (8 ) 
Total investments   562    (20 )   72,068    (7,455 )   72,630    (7,475 ) 

Restricted investments:                   
Corporate bonds   176    (1 )   72,439    (8,472 )   72,615    (8,473 ) 
U.S. treasuries   994    (1 )   47,046    (6,435 )   48,040    (6,436 ) 
Mortgage-backed securities   1,235    (5 )   35,383    (5,213 )   36,618    (5,218 ) 
U.S. government agency securities   3,287    (171 )   12,377    (1,028 )   15,664    (1,199 ) 
Asset-backed securities   300    (1 )   —    —    300    (1 ) 
Total restricted investments   5,992    (179 )   167,245    (21,148 )   173,237    (21,327 ) 
Total investments and restricted 
investments  $ 6,554   $ (199 )  $ 239,313   $ (28,603 )  $ 245,867   $ (28,802 ) 

 
We have determined that the gross unrealized losses on our investments as of December 31, 2024 and 
2023 were temporary in nature. The decline in fair value was due to changes in market interest rates, 
rather than credit losses. 
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Note 3 - Property, Equipment and Software 
Property, equipment and software consists of the following (in thousands): 
 
       

  December 31,  
  2024   2023  

Buildings  $ 17,929   $ 18,449  
Equipment, furniture and fixtures   24,244    24,093  
Computer hardware and software   6,233    6,109  
Software development costs   47,025    34,620  
    95,431    83,271  
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization   (40,140 )   (34,466 ) 
    55,291    48,805  
Land   1,490    1,490  
Total Property, Equipment and Software  $ 56,781   $ 50,295  
 
 We recognized $3.7 million, $3.6 million and $3.4 million in depreciation expense associated with our 
property and equipment in 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. We recognized $3.9 million, $3.5 million, 
and $2.8 million in amortization of capitalized software development costs in 2024, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively. We capitalized $12.4 million, $6.0 million and $5.3 million of software development costs in 
2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 

 

Note 4 - Workers' Compensation Claims 
The following table summarizes the aggregate workers' compensation reserve activity (in thousands): 
 
   Years Ended December 31,  
   2024   2023   2022  
Beginning balance           

Workers' compensation claims liabilities  $ 167,763   $ 215,987   $ 279,407  
Add: claims expense accrual         

Current period   12,188    16,731    19,146  
Prior periods   (11,524 )   (12,147 )   (11,337 ) 

Total claims expense incurred   664    4,584    7,809  
Less: claim payments related to         

Current period   5,006    3,260    4,450  
Prior periods   35,008    52,570    67,581  

Total claim payments  40,014   55,830   72,031  
Change in claims incurred in excess of retention limits  33   3,022   802  
Ending balance      

Workers' compensation claims liabilities $ 128,446  $ 167,763  $ 215,987  

Insured program 
The Company provides workers’ compensation coverage for client employees primarily through 
arrangements with fully licensed, third-party insurers (the “insured program”). Under this program, carriers 
issue policies or afford coverage to the Company’s clients under a program maintained by the Company. 
Approximately 85% of the Company’s workers’ compensation exposure is covered through the insured 
program. 

Effective July 1, 2021, the Company entered into a fully insured arrangement for its insured program, 
whereby third-party insurers assume substantially all risk of loss for claims incurred under the program. 
This fully insured arrangement has been extended annually and covers claims incurred between July 1, 
2021 and June 30, 2025, with an option to renew through June 30, 2026. 
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Each annual fully insured policy allows BBSI to participate in savings if claims develop favorably up to a 
maximum per policy year ranging from $20.5 million to $28.5 million, depending on the policy period. For 
only the policy period from July 1, 2021 to June 30 2022, BBSI can also incur additional premium up to 
$7.5 million if claims develop adversely. No additional premium can be charged based on claim 
performance for other policy years.  

Premiums incurred but not paid are recorded as either current or long-term premium payable on the 
consolidated balance sheets based on the expected timing of the payments.  

For claims incurred under the insured program prior to July 1, 2021, the Company retains risk of loss up 
to the first $3.0 million per occurrence on policies issued after June 30, 2020 and $5.0 million per 
occurrence on policies issued before that date.  

Claim obligations for policies issued under the insured program between February 1, 2014 and June 30, 
2018 were removed through loss portfolio transfers in 2020 and 2021.  

The following is a summary of the risk retained by the Company under its insured program after 
considering the effects of the loss portfolio transfers and current insurance arrangements: 
 

Year Claims risk retained 
2014 No 
2015 No 
2016 No 
2017 No 
2018 (1) No 
2019 (1) Yes 
2020 Yes 
2021 - Through June 30 Yes 
2021 - July 1 and after No 
2022 No 
2023 No 
2024 No 
 
(1) The loss portfolio transfers excluded approximately 10% of claims from 2018 and included an 
approximately offsetting amount of claims from 2019. 

The Company is required to maintain minimum collateral levels for certain policies issued under the 
insured program, which is held in a trust account (the “trust account”). The balance in the trust account 
was $197.1 million and $210.9 million at December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively. The 
trust account balance is included as a component of the current and long-term restricted cash and 
investments in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. 

Self-insured programs 
The Company is a self-insured employer with respect to workers' compensation coverage for all 
employees, including employees of PEO clients that elect to participate in our workers’ compensation 
program, working in Colorado, Maryland, Ohio, and Oregon. In the state of Washington, state law allows 
only the Company's staffing services and internal management employees to be covered under the 
Company's self-insured workers' compensation program. The Company also operates a wholly owned, 
fully licensed insurance company, Ecole, which provides workers’ compensation coverage to client 
employees working in Arizona and Utah. Approximately 15% of the Company’s workers’ compensation 
exposure is covered through self-insurance or Ecole (the “self-insured programs”). 

For all claims incurred under the Company’s self-insured programs, the Company retains risk of loss up to 
the first $3.0 million per occurrence, except in Maryland and Colorado, where the Company’s retention 
per occurrence is $1.0 million and $2.0 million, respectively. For claims incurred under the Company’s 
self-insured programs prior to July 1, 2020, the Company retains risk of loss up to the first $5.0 million per 
occurrence, except in Maryland and Colorado, where the retention per occurrence is $1.0 million and $2.0 
million, respectively. 
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The states of Maryland, California, Oregon, Colorado, Washington, and Delaware required the Company 
to maintain collateral totaling $55.9 million and $48.1 million at December 31, 2024 and 2023, 
respectively, to cover potential workers’ compensation claims losses related to the Company’s current 
and former status as a self-insured employer. At December 31, 2024, the Company provided surety 
bonds totaling $55.9 million. 

Claims liabilities 
The Company provided a total of $128.4 million and $167.8 million at December 31, 2024 and 2023, 
respectively, as an estimated future liability for unsettled workers' compensation claims liabilities. Of this 
amount, $6.0 million on December 31, 2024 and 2023, represent case reserves and IBNR in excess of 
the Company’s retention. The accrual for costs incurred in excess of retention is offset by a receivable 
from insurance carriers of $6.0 million at December 31, 2024 and 2023, included in other assets in the 
consolidated balance sheets. 

Note 5 - Revolving Credit Facility and Long-Term Debt 
The Company maintains an agreement (the “Agreement”) with Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (the "Bank") for a 
revolving credit line of $50.0 million and a sublimit for standby letters of credit of $25.0 million. Advances 
under the revolving credit line bear interest, as selected by the Company, of (a) the daily Simple Secured 
Overnight Financing Rate ("SOFR") plus 1.75% or (b) one-month Term SOFR plus 1.75%. The 
Agreement also provides for an unused commitment fee of 0.35% per year on the average daily unused 
amount of the revolving credit line, as well as a fee of 1.75% of the face amount of each letter of credit 
reserved under the line of credit. The Company had no outstanding borrowings on its revolving credit line 
at December 31, 2024 and 2023. The credit facility is collateralized by the Company’s accounts 
receivable and other rights to receive payment. The revolving credit facility will mature on July 1, 2026, 
unless extended. 

The Agreement requires the satisfaction of certain financial covenants as follows: 

 adjusted free cash flow [net profit after taxes plus interest expense (net of capitalized interest), 
depreciation, expense and amortization expense, less dividends/distributions] not less than 
$10 million as of each fiscal quarter end, determined on a rolling 4-quarter basis; and 

 tangible net worth [aggregate of total stockholders' equity plus subordinated debt less any 
intangible assets and less any loans or advances to, or investments in, any related entities or 
individuals] not less than $50 million at each fiscal quarter end. 

The Agreement imposes certain additional restrictions unless the Bank provides its prior written consent 
as follows:  

 incurring additional indebtedness is prohibited, other than purchase financing for the 
acquisition of assets, provided that the aggregate of all purchase financing does not exceed $1 
million at any time; 

 the Company may not terminate or cancel any of the AICE policies; and 

 if an event of default occurs, and is continuing, including on a pro forma basis, no dividends or 
distributions would be permitted to be paid and redemptions and repurchases of the 
Company’s stock would be permitted only up to $15 million in any rolling 12-month period. 

The Agreement also contains customary events of default and specified cross-defaults under the 
Company's workers' compensation insurance arrangements. If an event of default under the Agreement 
occurs and is continuing, the Bank may declare any outstanding obligations under the Agreement to be 
immediately due and payable. At December 31, 2024, the Company was in compliance with all 
covenants.  
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Note 6 - Benefit Plans 
We have a 401(k) Retirement Savings Plan for the benefit of our eligible employees. Employees covered 
under a PEO arrangement may participate in the plan at the sole discretion of the PEO client. We make 
matching contributions to the 401(k) plan under a safe harbor provision. The determination of any 
discretionary Company contributions to the plan is at the sole discretion of our Board of Directors. No 
discretionary Company contributions were made to the plan for the years ended December 31, 2024, 
2023 and 2022. We made matching contributions of $2.6 million, $2.4 million and $2.1 million in 2024, 
2023 and 2022, respectively. 

The Company allows certain highly compensated employees of the Company to defer compensation 
under a nonqualified deferred compensation plan. The long-term portion of the deferred compensation 
plan liability was $9.5 million and $7.9 million at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and is 
recorded in customer deposits and other long-term liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets. The 
current portion of the deferred compensation plan liability was $1.5 million and $1.1 million at December 
31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and is recorded in other accrued liabilities on the consolidated balance 
sheets. The fair value of the long-term asset portion of this plan was $9.5 million and $7.9 million at 
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and is recorded in noncurrent restricted cash and 
investments on the consolidated balance sheets. The fair value of the current asset portion of this plan 
was $1.5 million and $1.1 million at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and is recorded in current 
restricted cash and investments on the consolidated balance sheets.  

Note 7 - Leases 
The Company primarily leases office buildings under operating leases which are included in Operating 
lease right-of-use (“ROU”) assets, Current operating lease liabilities, and Long-term operating lease 
liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets. The Company’s leases have remaining terms of 1 to 7 
years.  

Information related to the Company's total lease costs was as follows (in thousands): 
 
 Year Ended  

 December 31, 
2024   December 31, 

2023  

Operating lease cost $ 7,556   $ 7,894 
Variable lease cost  1,314    1,229 
Short-term lease cost  662    208 
Total lease cost $ 9,532   $ 9,331 
 
Information related to the Company's ROU assets and related lease liabilities was as follows (in 
thousands): 
 
  Year Ended   

  December 31, 
2024   December 31, 

2023   

Cash paid for operating lease liabilities $ 7,745   $ 7,933   
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease obligations  6,913    7,270   
       
   
       

 December 31, 
2024   December 31, 

2023   

Weighted-average remaining lease term 3.7 years   3.8 years   
Weighted-average discount rate 5.1  % 4.7  % 
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The table below reconciles the undiscounted future minimum lease payments (displayed by year and in 
the aggregate) under noncancellable operating leases with terms of more than one year to the total 
operating lease liabilities recognized on the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2024 (in 
thousands): 
 
2025 $ 7,131  
2026  6,249  
2027  5,036  
2028  3,477  
2029  1,352  
Thereafter  368  
Total undiscounted future minimum lease payments  23,613  
Less: Difference between undiscounted lease payments and discounted operating lease liabilities  2,166  
Total operating lease liabilities $ 21,447  
Current operating lease liabilities $ 6,231  
Long-term operating lease liabilities  15,215  
Total operating lease liabilities $ 21,447  
 
The Company has additional operating leases of $7.1 million that have not commenced as of 
December 31, 2024, and as such, have not been recognized in the Company’s Consolidated Balance 
Sheets. These operating leases are expected to commence in 2025 with lease terms of 5 to 7 years. 

Note 8 - Income Taxes  

The provision for income taxes is as follows (in thousands): 
 

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2024   2023   2022  

Current:          
Federal  $ 15,070   $ 11,896   $ 14,683  
State   3,613    1,854    5,529  
Total current provision for income taxes   18,683    13,750    20,212  

Deferred:          
Federal   (535 )   2,784    (1,096 ) 
State   (319 )   1,842    (1,081 ) 
Total deferred provision for income taxes   (854 )   4,626    (2,177 ) 

Total provision for income taxes  $ 17,829   $ 18,376   $ 18,035  
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Deferred income tax assets and liabilities consist of the following components (in thousands): 
 

  December 31,  
  2024   2023  

Deferred income tax assets:       
Deferred compensation  $ 7,392   $ 6,149  
Tax effect of unrealized losses, net   7,374    7,969  
Operating lease liability   5,850    5,813  
Workers' compensation claims liabilities   5,423    6,709  
Other   1,164    579  
Equity based compensation   857    907  
Total deferred income tax assets   28,060    28,126  
Less: valuation allowance   340    65  

Net deferred income tax assets   27,720    28,061  
Deferred income tax liabilities:       

Tax depreciation in excess of book depreciation   (10,230 )   (9,180 ) 
Amortization of software and intangibles   (7,467 )   (8,441 ) 
Operating lease right-of-use   (5,545 )   (5,452 ) 
Other   (1 )   (770 ) 

Total deferred income tax liabilities   (23,243 )   (23,843 ) 
Net deferred income taxes  $ 4,477   $ 4,218  

 
The effective tax rate differed from the U.S. statutory federal tax rate due to the following: 
 

  Year Ended December 31,   
  2024    2023    2022   

Statutory federal tax rate   21.0  %   21.0  %   21.0  % 
State taxes, net of federal benefit   3.6     4.3     5.4   
Nondeductible expenses and other, net   1.0     1.7     1.5   
Adjustment for final positions on filed returns   0.5     (0.5 )    0.2   
Other, net   (0.1 )    0.2     —   
Federal and state tax credits   (0.8 )    (0.1 )    (0.5 )  
Effective tax rate   25.2  %   26.6  %   27.6  % 
              
 

Under ASC 740, “Income Taxes,” management evaluates the realizability of the deferred tax assets on a 
quarterly basis under a “more-likely-than-not” standard. As part of this evaluation, management reviews 
all evidence both positive and negative to determine if a valuation allowance is needed. One component 
of this analysis is to determine whether the Company was in a cumulative loss position for the most 
recent 12 quarters. The Company was in a cumulative income position for the 12 quarters ended at both 
December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023. 

The Company’s realization of a portion of net deferred tax assets is based in part on our estimates of the 
timing of reversals of certain temporary differences and on the generation of taxable income before such 
reversals. 

The Company is subject to income taxes in U.S. federal and multiple state and local tax jurisdictions. The 
Internal Revenue Service (the "IRS") is examining the Company’s federal tax returns for the years ended 
December 31, 2017 through 2021. BBSI received notices that the IRS intends to disallow certain wage-
based tax credits claimed for the years 2017 through 2021, which could result in estimated total additional 
taxes of $8.0 million and penalties of $1.9 million plus related interest. The Company disagrees with the 
IRS determination to disallow certain wage-based credits taken by the Company and has filed U.S. Tax 
Court petitions challenging these notices. We believe that the Company has the technical merits to 
defend its position. Based on management’s more-likely-than-not assessment that the Company’s 
position is sustainable, no reserve for the aforementioned IRS notices of disallowance of wage-based tax 
credits or underpayment penalties has been recorded in the financial statements.  
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In the major jurisdictions where it operates, the Company is generally no longer subject to income tax 
examinations by tax authorities for tax years before 2017. As of December 31, 2024, total gross 
unrecognized tax benefits, excluding interest and penalties, of $0.5 million would affect the Company's 
effective tax rate if recognized in future periods. The Company does not anticipate any material changes 
to the reserve in the next 12 months. The Company had unrecognized tax benefit of $0.8 million and $0.6 
million as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively.  

A portion of the consolidated income the Company generates is not subject to state income tax. 
Depending on the percentage of this income as compared to total consolidated income, the Company's 
state effective tax rate could fluctuate from expectations.  

At December 31, 2024, the Company had no state operating loss carryforwards. At December 31, 2024, 
the Company did not have a federal general business tax credit carryforward or an alternative minimum 
tax credit carryforward.   

Note 9 - Stock Incentive Plans 
The Company's 2020 Stock Incentive Plan (the "2020 Plan"), which provides for share-based awards to 
Company employees, non-employee directors and outside consultants or advisors, was approved by 
stockholders on May 27, 2020, and amended with stockholder approval on June 5, 2023, to increase the 
number of shares available for issuance under the 2020 Plan from 375,000 to 725,000. On June 3, 2024, 
the Company's stockholders approved an amendment of the Company's Amended and Restated Charter 
to increase the number of authorized shares of Common Stock of the Company from 20,500,000 to 
82,000,000 (the "Charter Amendment"). The Company's Board of Directors proposed the Charter 
Amendment in part to permit a four-for-one split of the Company's common stock. As such, the number of 
shares available for issuance under the 2020 Plan increased from 725,000 to 2,900,000. The number of 
shares available for grants of awards at December 31, 2024 was 862,526.  

Share-based compensation expense included in selling, general and administrative expenses during the 
years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, was $8.8 million, $8.5 million and $7.4 million, 
respectively. Related income tax benefits for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, were 
$2.2 million, $1.6 million and $1.2 million, respectively. 

Stock Options 
Outstanding stock options generally vest over four or eight years and expire up to ten years after the date 
of grant.  

A summary of the status of the Company’s stock options at December 31, 2024, together with changes 
during the periods then ended, is presented below: 
 

        Weighted     
     Weighted   Average   Aggregate  
     Average   Remaining   Intrinsic  
  Number   Exercise   Contractual   Value  
  of Options   Price   Term (Years)   (In Thousands)  

Outstanding at December 31, 2023   400,000   $ 17.89    —    —  
Options granted at market price   34,500    43.78    —    —  
Options exercised   (20,500 )   6.73    —    —  
Outstanding at December 31, 2024   414,000    20.60    3.09    9,474  
Exercisable at December 31, 2024   219,500   $ 17.00    2.54   $ 5,803  
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The fair value of stock option awards as determined under the Black-Scholes option-pricing model was 
estimated with the following weighted-average assumptions: 
 

  2024  
Expected volatility   24.4 % 
Risk free interest rate   4.2 % 
Expected dividend yield   0.7 % 
Expected term (years)   5.0  
Weighted average fair value per share  $ 12.16  
 
The weighted average fair value of stock options granted for the year ended December 31, 2024 was 
$12.16. There were no stock options granted with an exercise price below market price during 2024. No 
stock options were granted during 2023 or 2022.  
 
The intrinsic value of stock options exercised for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 
was $0.6 million, $0.1 million, and $0.2 million, respectively. The fair value of stock options vested for the 
years ended December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2022 was $728,000. No stock options vested during 
the years ended December 31, 2023. As of December 31, 2024, unrecognized compensation expense 
related to stock options was $1.3 million with a weighted average remaining amortization period of 2.1 
years. 

Restricted Stock Units 
Restricted stock units generally vest in four equal annual installments beginning one year following the 
date of grant, other than restricted stock units granted to nonemployee directors since 2019, which vest 
one year following the date of grant. 

The following table presents restricted stock unit activity: 
 

     Weighted Average  
     Grant Date  
  Units   Fair Value  

Nonvested at December 31, 2023   877,112   $ 19.14  
Granted   266,812    31.84  
Vested   (348,524 )   17.94  
Cancelled/Forfeited   (34,543 )   20.11  
Nonvested at December 31, 2024   760,857   $ 24.10  
 
The total fair value of restricted stock units vested during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 
2022 was $6.3 million, $5.1 million and $4.5 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2024, 
unrecognized compensation expense related to restricted stock units was $14.0 million with a weighted 
average remaining amortization period of 2.8 years. 

Performance Share Units 
Performance share units (“PSUs”) are granted to key employees of the Company and are conditioned on 
attaining financial performance metrics specified in each award. Each award is subject to upward or 
downward adjustment depending on whether achievement of the financial metrics is above or below the 
target level, with a maximum payout of up to 200% of the target number of shares covered by the award. 

PSUs vest on the date that the Compensation Committee determines the level of attainment of the 
specified financial metrics, generally measured over a three-year period. 
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The following table presents PSU activity: 
 

     Weighted Average  
     Grant Date  
  Units   Fair Value  

Nonvested at December 31, 2023   245,176   $ 18.23  
Granted   117,661    25.99  
Vested   (97,089 )   17.29  
Nonvested at December 31, 2024   265,748   $ 22.01  
 
The total grant date fair value of PSUs vested during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 
2022 was $1.7 million, $1.6 million, and $259,000, respectively. 

Employee Stock Purchase Plan 
The Company offers employees the right to purchase shares at a discount from the market price under 
the Company’s 2019 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. Subject to the annual statutory limit, employees are 
eligible to participate through payroll deductions of up to 15% of their compensation. At the end of each 
six-month offering period, shares are purchased by the participants at 85% of the fair market value at the 
end of the offering period. As of December 31, 2024, approximately 1,024,554 shares were reserved for 
future issuance under the 2019 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. 

Note 10 - Stock Repurchase Program 
The Company maintains a stock repurchase program approved by the Board of Directors, which 
authorizes the repurchase of shares from time to time in open market purchases. On July 31, 2023, the 
Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to $75.0 million of the Company’s common stock over 
a two-year period beginning July 31, 2023. The new repurchase program replaces the program approved 
in February 2022. The Company repurchased 848,958, 1,500,456 and 2,423,748 shares at an aggregate 
purchase price of $29.1 million, $34.2 million, and $47.2 million during 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.  

In addition, shares of restricted stock units withheld to satisfy tax-withholding obligations from the vesting 
of restricted stock units were 153,372, 131,552 and 92,452 in 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively, which 
are not subject to the current repurchase program. See “Note 5. Revolving Credit Facility and Long-Term 
Debt” for related restrictions on share repurchases.  

Note 11 - Litigation 
On April 5, 2011, several individual plaintiffs filed a wage and hour class action in the California Superior 
Court, County of Fresno, naming as defendants their employer, a Merry Maids franchisee; BBSI, which 
was providing PEO services to the franchisee; and various parties related to the franchisor. Plaintiffs 
claimed, among other things, that BBSI and the franchisor were their joint employer with the franchisee 
and therefore jointly responsible for the alleged wage and hour violations. BBSI continues to maintain that 
it was not the plaintiff's joint employer. Notwithstanding, in January 2025, the plaintiffs and BBSI reached 
an agreement in principle to settle the matter, subject to the completion of definitive documentation and 
customary court approval.  
BBSI is subject to other legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of our business. 
There are significant uncertainties surrounding litigation. For the matter discussed above, as well as other 
cases, management has recorded estimated liabilities totaling $1.7 million in other accrued liabilities in 
the consolidated balance sheets. 

Note 12 - Subsequent Events 
We have evaluated events and transactions occurring after the balance sheet date through our filing date 
and noted no events that are subject to recognition or disclosure. 
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Item 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND 
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE 

None. 

Item 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures 
We maintain “disclosure controls and procedures” that are designed with the objective of providing 
reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in the reports we file or submit under the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), is recorded, processed, 
summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such 
information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer 
(“CEO”) and Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”), as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required 
disclosure. In designing and evaluating our disclosure controls and procedures, our management 
recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide 
only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives, and our management is required 
to apply their judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures.  

Based on their evaluation, the Company’s CEO and CFO have concluded that the Company’s disclosure 
controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) were 
effective as of December 31, 2024. 

Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial 
reporting (“ICFR”) as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Our ICFR is a 
process designed by, or under the supervision of, our CEO and our CFO to provide reasonable 
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of our consolidated financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP in the United States of America. 
Management, with the participation of our CEO and CFO, conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of 
our ICFR based on the framework established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued 
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based upon that 
evaluation, management has concluded that the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was 
effective as of December 31, 2024. 

The effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting has also been audited by 
Deloitte & Touche LLP, the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their 
report included below. 

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
There have been no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred 
during the quarter ended December 31, 2024 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to 
materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. 

Inherent Limitations 
Control systems, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, 
assurance that the control systems' objectives are being met. Further, the design of any control systems 
must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of all controls must be 
considered relative to their costs. Due to the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of 
controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the 
Company have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision 
making can be faulty and that breakdowns can occur because of simple errors or mistakes. Control 
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systems can also be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more 
people, or by management override of the controls. The design of any system of controls is based in part 
on certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any 
design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions. Over time, controls 
may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or deterioration in the degree of compliance 
with policies or procedures. 

Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer Certifications 
The certifications of our CEO and CFO required under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act have been 
filed as Exhibits 31.1 and 31.2 to this report. 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of 
Barrett Business Services, Inc. 

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Barrett Business Services, Inc. and 
subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control 
— Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (COSO). In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal 
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control 
— Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO. 

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight 
Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended 
December 31, 2024, of the Company and our report dated February 28, 2025, expressed an unqualified 
opinion on those financial statements. 

Basis for Opinion  
The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial 
reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included 
in the accompanying Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to 
express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are 
a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to 
the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations 
of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that 
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control 
over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an 
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness 
exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the 
assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. 
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable 
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for 
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal 
control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance 
of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the 
assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to 
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, 
and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with 
authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance 
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s 
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect 
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk 
that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance 
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP  

Portland, Oregon  
February 28, 2025 
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STOCK LISTING
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FINANCIAL REPORTS
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K for the year ended December 31, 2024, as 
amended, are available upon request and without 
charge by contacting Investor Relations at the 
address or telephone number listed below or 
through our website at www.BBSI.com.
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